

ISSN 2821-9848 (Print) ISSN 2821-9864 (Online)



Volume 48 : Number 2 (July - December 2024)

WWW.JSEAORTHO.ORG





# The Council Members of the Royal College of Orthopaedic Surgeons of Thailand (RCOST) 2022-2024

President Immediate Past President President Elect Qualified Advisors

**Executive Vice President** 

Registrar Treasurer Public Relation Secretary General 1<sup>st</sup> Deputy Secretary General 2<sup>nd</sup> Deputy Secretary General Council Members

**Advisory Board** 

Thipachart Bunyaratabandhu, MD Thanainit Chotanaphuti, MD Keerati Chareancholvanich, MD Thawee Songpatanasilp, MD Apichat Asavamongkolkul, MD Apisit Patamarat, MD Satit Thiengwittayaporn, MD Tanarat Boonriong, MD Ukrit Chaweewannakorn, MD Wichan Kanchanatawan, MD Siwadol Wongsak, MD Ong-art Phruetthiphat, MD Prakrit Suwanpramote, MD Srihatach Ngarmukos, MD Rahat Jarayabhand, MD Chinnawat Srisai, MD Theerachai Apivatthakakul, MD Chanakarn Phornphutkul, MD Bavornrit Chuckpaiwong, MD Surapoj Meknavin, MD Supphamard Lewsirirat, MD Sermsak Sumanont, MD Wanchai Sirisereewan, MD Torpon Vathana, MD Sumroeng Neti, MD Thongchai Suntharapa, MD Danai Heebthamai, MD Thanut Valleenukul, MD Samak Bukkanasen, MD Natee Rukpollamuang, MD Direk Israngkul, MD Suprija Mokkhavesa, MD Charoen Chotigavanich, MD Pongsak Vathana, MD Prasit Gonggetyai, MD Chaithavat Ngarmukos, MD Thamrongrat Keokarn, MD Suthorn Bavonratanavech, MD Wichien Laohacharoensombat, MD Saranatra Waikakul, MD Adisorn Patradul, MD Thavat Prasartritha, MD Sukit Saengnipanthkul, MD Banchong Mahaisavariya, MD Aree Tanavalee, MD



# Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Current Editorial Board (2022-2024)

EDITOR Thanainit Chotanaphuti, MD

Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Thailand

# EDITORIAL SECRETARY

Satit Thiengwittayaporn, MD Navamindradhiraj University, Thailand

# MANAGING EDITOR Supawinee Pattanasoon, BSc Independent Scholar, Thailand

# EDITORIAL BOARD

Myung Ku Kim, MD

Aasis Unnanuntana, MD	Mahidol University, Thailand
Apichat Asavamongkolkul, MD	Mahidol University, Thailand
Aree Tanavalee, MD	Chulalongkorn University, Thailand
Ismail Hadisoebroto Dilogo, MD	Universitas Indonesia-Cipto mangunkusumo hospital, Indonesia
Nicolaas Cyrillus Budhiparama, MD	MEDISTRA Hospital, Indonesia
Seng Jin Yeo, MD	Singapore General Hospital, Singapore
Than Win, MD	University of Medicine, Mandalay, Myanmar
Theerachai Apivatthakakul, MD	Chiang Mai University, Thailand
INTERNATIONAL	
Christopher Scott Mow, MD	Stanford Health Care-Stanford Hospital, USA
Hiroyuki Tsuchiya, MD	Kanazawa University, Japan
Jin Woo Lee, MD	Yonsei University, South Korea
Joseph M. Lane, MD	Hospital for Special Surgery, USA
Kang-Il Kim, MD	Kyung Hee University, South Korea

Inha University Hospital, South Korea

Editorial office address: The Royal College of Orthopaedic Surgeons of Thailand 4 th Floor, Royal Golden Jubilee Building, 2 Soi Soonvijai, New Petchburi Road, Bangkapi, Huay Khwang, Bangkok 10310 E-mail: secretariat@rcost.or.th Telephone: +66 2 7165436-7 The Journal is free online at https://jseaortho.org

# Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics

ISSN: 2821-9848 (Print)

ISSN: 2821-9864 (Online)

# **Contents**

	Page
Editorial	
Thanainit Chotanaphuti, MD	1
Original Articles	
Does Adapted Self-Exercise Have Benefits for Stiff Shoulders?	3
Kriangkrai Benjawongsathien, MD	
Association Between Sarcopenia and Functional Independence After Acute Fragility Hip	11
Fracture at 6 Months	
Science Metadilogkul, MD, Naputt Virasathienpornkul, MD, Pariyut Chiarapattanakom, MD, Nuttavut Chavalparit, MD, Piyabuth Kittithamvongs, MD, Piyatida Yousuk, BNS	
Comparative Study of Union Rate in Closed Humerus Shaft Fracture After Operative Fixation with Anteromedial Versus Anterolateral Surface Plating Using the Anterolateral	16
Approach: A Randomized Controlled Study	
Tana Rattanakitkoson, MD, Narongrit Lothaisong, MD, Naruepol Ruangsillapanan, MD	
Outcomes of Perilunate Dislocation and Perilunate Fracture Dislocation After a Minimum 1-Year Follow-Up Following Open Reduction and Internal Fixation Via the Dorsal Approac	24 ch:
A Retrospective Study	
Phanumas Muennoi, MD, Thananit Sangkomkamhang, MD, PhD	
Case Report	
Irreducible Fracture Dislocation of the Elbow Due to Medial Epicondyle Entrapment Associated with Median Nerve Palsy in Adult: A Case Report	31
Navapong Anantavorasakul, MD, Piyabuth Kittithamvongs, MD, Sopinun Siripoonyothai, MD,	
Science Metadilogkul, MD, Naputt Virasathienpornkul, MD	
Pediatric Olecranon Fracture with Coronoid Process Osteochondral Flap Fracture: A Rare	36
and Challenging Case	
Chong Jung Syn, MBBS, Aziah Abdul Aziz, MS, Shashank Raghunandanan, MS,	
Nur Azuatul Akmal Kamaludin, MS, Nur Syahida Mohd Termizi, MS	
Osteochondroma at the Ventro-Medial Surface of the Scapula Causing Pseudo Winging	40
Scapular Resection with Computer-Assisted Navigation: A Case Report and Literature Revi	ew

Teerapat Nakornnoi, MD

# **Instruction for Authors**

Editorial • Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 1



# Editorial

The Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopedics has now reached Volume 48: Number 2 (July - December 2024).

The editorial board is very proud of the journal's rapid growth in terms of the number of submissions and the quality of the articles. We would like to thank the reviewers for their consistent efforts in reviewing and improving the articles.

In this issue, there are interesting original articles as well as noteworthy case reports in the field of orthopedics. We promise to strive to maintain the quality of the published articles, ensure fairness in the evaluation process, and maintain promptness in article review.

We thank you once again and invite authors to submit articles for publication consideration in the Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopedics.

Thanainit Chotanaphuti, MD, FRCOST Editor in chief, Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Past President, the RCOST



# **Does Adapted Self-Exercise Have Benefits for Stiff Shoulders?**

# Kriangkrai Benjawongsathien, MD

Department of Orthopaedics, Nopparat Rajathanee Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand

**Purpose:** Stiff shoulders restrict shoulder motion and affect the quality of life. Several rehabilitation programs have been implemented to improve these conditions. Various exercises have been designed to achieve positive clinical outcomes. However, too many different sets of exercises can confuse patients and lead to infrequent exercises.

We aimed to compare the clinical outcomes of a small set of adapted self-exercises to a usual set in patients with stiff shoulders.

**Methods:** Seventy patients with stiff shoulders were randomly assigned to two groups, each performing self-exercises. Self-exercise in group I (the usual set) was composed of 'wall climbing in front,' 'wall climbing at the side,' and 'shoulder stretching with a towel,' and in group II (the adapted set), it was composed of 'assisted forward flexion stretching in the standing position,' 'sleeper stretching in the standing position,' and 'doorway or corner stretching.' The outcome measurements included pain score, functional score, and range of motion.

**Results**: There were no significant differences in the baseline patient characteristics between the groups in terms of sex (p=0.759), age (p=0.521), underlying disease (p=0.322), or body mass index (BMI) (p=0.687). Group II demonstrated significantly higher improvement in mean pain score decrement (-4.5±1.7 vs. -3.5±2.4, p=0.049), mean ASES score improvement (23.1±9.9 vs. 18.3±13.1, p=0.038) and mean degree improvement of shoulder motion in all directions than in group I.

**Conclusions:** The adapted self-exercise set may offer favorable results in treating patients with stiff shoulders and may also be a treatment option for overweight patients.

Keywords: Stiff shoulder, Adhesive capsulitis, Frozen shoulder, Sleeper stretch

A common clinical condition is a stiff shoulder, also referred to as adhesive capsulitis or frozen shoulder. This condition restricts shoulder motion and affects the quality of life. The cause of stiff shoulders is not clearly understood, and the exact duration of recovery from this condition is uncertain<sup>(2)</sup>. Management of stiff shoulders usually begins with nonoperative interventions, including medication, self-stretching exercises, and physical therapy. Different centers have used many rehabilitation programs, and multiple studies have demonstrated improved outcomes<sup>(5,7,12,13)</sup>.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, hospital policies to reduce contamination made treating stiff shoulders more difficult. Self-stretching exercises for improving the mobility of joints and decreasing pain have become a useful treatment. Some studies indicated that self-exercise is more important than

Article history:

Received: December 8, 2023 Revised: February 24, 2024 Accepted: March 22, 2024 Correspondence to: Kriangkrai Benjawongsathien, MD Department of Orthopaedics, Nopparat Rajathanee Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand E-mail: benkiang110@gmail.com

physical therapy in the hospital, and the effectiveness of self-exercise depends on its frequency<sup>(17)</sup>. In many institutions, a specific group of exercises has been used for patients with stiff shoulders, such as 'wall climbing,' 'shoulder stretching with a towel,' 'sleeper stretching,' 'active assisted shoulder forward flexion with a wand,' 'active assisted shoulder external rotation with a wand,' and 'pendulum exercise,' but no study has demonstrated which exercises supeare rior<sup>(3,5,7,12,13,17)</sup>. Despite the positive results of many sets of exercises, the large number of self-exercises can be confusing for patients and may result in low compliance. This study used a small set of selfexercises that the physician modified for convenience, called an adapted set.

This study aimed to investigate the benefits of the adapted set of self-exercises in patients with stiff shoulders and demonstrate the better outcome of the adapted set of self-exercises compared to the usual set of self-exercises.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

After receiving approval from our hospital's Ethics Committee, 70 patients were recruited for this study. The inclusion criteria were as follows: 1) age >40; 2) diagnosis of stiff shoulder, adhesive capsulitis, or frozen shoulder; 3) limited range of motion of the shoulder in all directions; 4) consent to be examined by plain radiography; 5) agreement to self-exercise as a treatment for stiff shoulders; and 6) ability to communicate. The exclusion criteria were as follows: 1) history of serious injury or arthrosis of the shoulder, 2) planned pregnancy, 3) serious acute inflammation or infection of the shoulder, 4) bleeding tendency, and 5) inability to participate in the study. A single sports medicine-trained physician participated in this study. The patients were randomly assigned to Groups I and II, alternating according to the order of visits (n=35 in each group). The patients in each group were not informed of the treatment options in the other groups.

#### Intervention

In this study, self-exercises were selected by using a group of exercises that are commonly

used for rehabilitation as home self-exercises, consisting of 'wall climbing in front,' 'wall climbing at the side,' and 'shoulder stretching with a towel,' which are called the usual set and were assigned to group I (Figure 1). Another set of self- exercises was selected by combining three exercises used by sports medicine physicians. To cover shoulder motion, selected self-exercises included 'overhead reach,' 'sleeper stretching,' and 'doorway or corner stretching'<sup>(11)</sup>. In this study, some exercises were adjusted from lying to standing for convenience. Therefore, this set of exercises was called the adapted set and assigned to Group II (Figure 2).



**Fig. 1** Exercise in Group I, the usual set: A = wall climbing in front; B = wall climbing at the side; C = shoulder stretching with a towel.



**Fig. 2** Exercise in Group II, adapted set: A = assisted forward flexion stretching in the standing position; B = sleeper stretching in the standing position; C = doorway or corner stretching.

The instructions for self-exercise were as follows:

• Wall climbing in front: The patient stands facing a wall. They place the hand of the affected shoulder on the wall and climb as far as possible.

• Wall climbing on the side: The patient stands with the affected shoulder facing the wall.

They place their hand on the wall and climb as far as possible.

• Shoulder stretching with a towel: The patient is standing, and the hand of the opposite shoulder is used to hold the towel behind the back. They should hold the lower end with the hand of the affected shoulder and use the other hand to lift the towel as far as possible (Figure 1).

• Assisted forward flexion stretching in the standing position: The patient stands with their back against the wall, a foot away from the wall, approximately one step. They raise the arm of the affected shoulder upward to the ceiling and use the other hand to push the arm as gently as possible.

• Sleeper stretching in the standing position: The patient stands with the affected side against a wall. They raise the arm straight out from the shoulder, bend the elbow, and maintain it in a Lposition. The other hand is used to push the forearm of the affected shoulder up and down toward the wall as far as possible.

• Doorway or corner stretching: The patient stands in an open doorway or corner, raising each arm to the side and bent at 90-degree angles with the palms on the door frame or wall. They slowly step forward with one foot and feel the stretch of the shoulders (Figure 2).

The participants were held at the farthest point of each exercise for 20 s. This was repeated ten times per session for six sessions per day. Each patient was given a pamphlet with instructions for self-exercise and received coaching from a physician. In both groups, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs or analgesics were prescribed as necessary.

# **Outcome Measurements**

All patients were re-examined at onemonth intervals for up to three months. At each visit, the physician reassessed the set of exercises, pain scores, shoulder function, and passive shoulder range of motion. Shoulder function was assessed using the Thai version of the ASES (American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons) Score, which is reliable<sup>(14)</sup>. In the standing position, the shoulder range of motion was assessed by asking the patient to move the arm in the desired direction and verifying the absence of muscle weakness by having the examiner push the arm further in that direction. A universal goniometer is then used to measure multiple directions, such as forward flexion, abduction, adduction, extension, internal rotation, and external rotation of the side <sup>(6,9)</sup>. Data on pain, ASES score, and range of motion were used for outcome analysis.

The primary endpoints were the effects of two small sets of self-exercises on pain, shoulder function (ASES score), and range of motion. The secondary endpoint was the relationship between patient characteristics regarding pain, shoulder function, range of motion, and self-exercise.

## Sample Size

The sample size was calculated by using GPower to estimate the sample sizes for a twosample means test using  $\alpha$ = 0.05, the power of the test= 80%, the confidence level= 95%, mean1= 0.80, mean2= 0.10, and the standard deviation= 1.00. The minimum sample size was 34 patients in each group (at least 68 patients). Data were analyzed using SPSS, Inc., released in 2009, PASW Statistics for Windows, Version 18.0. Chicago: SPSS, Inc. An independent t-test was used to compare differences in the change in pain scores between the two groups. A dependent t-test was used to compare differences in pain scores between the initial and final measurements. Multivariate analysis was used to analyze the relationship between the delta ASES score and the variables, delta pain, and the variables in the Gaussian regression model. The chi-square test was used to compare significantly different baseline characteristics between the two groups. P < 0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance.

### RESULTS

Seventy patients (57 women, 13 men) were enrolled in this study. None of the patients were lost to follow-up. According to the demographic data analysis, there was no significant difference between the usual-set and adapted-set groups in baseline characteristics such as sex (p=0.759), age (p=0.521), BMI (p=0.687), handedness (p=0.555), and underlying diseases, such as diabetes (p=0.607),

hypertension (p=0.803), and dyslipidemia (p=0.051) (Table 1).

The baseline pain score in group II was significantly higher than in group I (p=0.046). The ASES score was significantly higher in group II (p=0.043). The baseline shoulder range of motion showed no significant difference, except for extension, which was significantly lower in group II (p=0.006).

After intervention, the mean pain score significantly decreased in both groups. The pain score in group I decreased from  $6.3 \pm 2.1$  to  $2.8 \pm 1.8$  (p<0.001), and that in group II decreased from  $7.1 \pm 1.5$  to  $2.7 \pm 1.2$  (p<0.001). However, the mean pain score decrement in group II (-4.5 ± 1.7) was significantly better than in group I (-3.5 ± 2.4) (p=0.049) (Table 2). The ASES score also demonstrated significant improvement in group I (from  $41.1 \pm 2.6$ 

	Group I (u	sual set)	Group II (ad	lapted set)	p-value
-	(n = 35)	(%)	(n = 35)	(%)	_
Gender					0.759
Male	6	17.1	7	20.0	
Female	29	82.9	28	80.0	
Handedness					0.555
Right	34	97.1	33	94.3	
Left	1	2.9	2	5.7	
Affected shoulder					0.094
Right	13	37.1	20	57.1	
Left	22	62.9	15	42.9	
Underlying disease					0.322
Yes	20	57.1	24	68.6	
No	15	42.9	11	31.4	
Diabetes	10	28.6	12	34.3	0.607
Hypertension	13	37.1	12	34.3	0.803
Dyslipidemia	10	28.6	18	51.4	0.051
Kidney disease	1	2.9	0	0	0.314
Age (min–max) (yrs.)	44 - 79		43 – 75		
$\bar{x} \pm SD$	61.2 ±	9.1	59.8 ±	$59.8 \pm 8.7$	
<65 yrs.	22	62.9	24	68.6	0.615
≥65 yrs.	13	37.1	11	31.4	
Body Mass Index (BMI) (kg/m2)	19.3 – 33.9		19.0 -	35.8	
$\bar{x \pm SD}$	25.9 ±	3.7	$25.5 \pm 4.3$		0.687
< 23	6	17.1	11	31.4	0.163
≥23	29	82.9	24	68.6	
Pain score					
$\bar{x \pm SD}$	$6.3 \pm 2.1$		$7.1 \pm 1.5$		0.046*
ASES score					
$\bar{x \pm SD}$	$41.1 \pm 15.8$		$48.1 \pm 12.5$		0.043*
<b>Range of motion of affected shoulder</b> ( $\bar{x} \pm SD$ )					
Forward flexion	$90.3 \pm 2$	21.3	96.4 ±	23.2	0.260
Abduction	64.7 ±	16.6	73.5 ±	25.7	0.092
Adduction	13.2 ±	9.7	14.5 ±	9.9	0.593
Extension	33.5 ±	9.1	27.9 ±	7.4	0.006*
Internal rotation	35.6 ±	12.5	35.2 ±	13.8	0.899
External rotation	29.1 ±	16.8	31.7 ±	14.2	0.482

\*p<0.05, considered statistically significant

to  $59.3 \pm 13.6$ ) and group II (from  $48.1 \pm 12.5$  to  $71.2 \pm 10.8$ ) (p<0.001). Nevertheless, group II showed a significantly higher mean ASES score improvement (p=0.038) than group I (Table 3).

Both groups showed significant improvements in the range of motion in forward flexion, abduction, adduction, extension, internal rotation, and external rotation (p<0.001). Compared with group I, group II showed a significantly higher mean degree of improvement in all directions (p $\leq$ 0.001) (Table 4)

 Table 2 Pain score improvement between groups by set of self-exercises.

	Group	Within group		Between group		
		Pre ( $x \pm SD$ )	Post (x ± SD)	p-value	Mean pain score decrement	p-value
Pain score	I (usual set)	6.3 ± 2.1	$2.8 \pm 1.8$	p<0.001*	-3.5 ± 2.4	p=0.049*
	II (adapted set)	$7.1 \pm 1.5$	2.7 ± 1.2	p<0.001*	$-4.5 \pm 1.7$	-
	-	p=0.046*	p=0.758	-		

\*p<0.05, considered statistically significant

 Table 3 ASES score improvement between groups by set of self-exercises.

	Group	Within group			Between group	,
	_	Pre ( $\bar{x \pm SD}$ )	Post $(\bar{x} \pm SD)$	p-value	Mean ASES score improvement	p-value
ASES	I (usual set)	41.1 ± 2.6	59.3 ± 13.6	p<0.001*	18.3 ± 13.1	p=0.038*
score	II (adapted set)	48.1 ± 12.5 p=0.043*	71.2 ± 10.8 p<0.001*	p<0.001*	23.1 ± 9.9	-

\*p<0.05, considered statistically significant

TT 11 4 D	c	11 1	1	1 ( 1( '
Lable 4 Kange of	t motion im	iprovement between	groups by	y set of self-exercises.
I HOIC I HUILGO U	I IIIOtioII III	ipioveniene seeveen	STOUPD D	y bee of bell excitedeb.

	Group	Within group			Between group		
	_	Pre ( $\bar{x} \pm SD$ )	Post (x ± SD)	p-value	Mean degree improvement	p-value	
Forward	I (usual set)	90.3 ± 21.3	111.2 ± 20.7	p<0.001*	20.9 ± 13.5	p<0.001*	
flexion	II (adapted set)	96.4 ± 23.2	139.2 ± 24.9	p<0.001*	$42.9 \pm 21.2$	-	
Abduction	I (usual set)	64.7 ± 16.6	85.3 ± 24.3	p<0.001*	20.6 ± 15.7	p<0.001*	
	II (adapted set)	73.5 ± 25.7	125.7 ± 26.9	p<0.001*	52.2 ± 28.3	-	
Adduction	I (usual set)	13.2 ± 9.7	$21.5 \pm 10.6$	p<0.001*	8.3 ± 6.7	p=0.001*	
	II (adapted set)	$14.5 \pm 9.9$	30.9 ± 9.7	p<0.001*	$16.5 \pm 11.7$		
<b>Extension</b> I (usual set)		33.5 ± 9.1	$42.5 \pm 9.4$	p<0.001*	9.0 ± 8.1	p<0.001*	
	II (adapted set)	$27.9 \pm 7.4$	45.7 ± 5.2	p<0.001*	$17.8 \pm 7.8$	-	
Internal	I (usual set)	35.6 ± 12.5	47.9 ± 13.4	p<0.001*	12.3 ± 8.0	p<0.001*	
rotation	II (adapted set)	35.2 ± 13.8	58.6 ± 8.1	p<0.001*	$23.4 \pm 10.8$		
External	I (usual set)	29.1 ± 16.8	$44.5 \pm 18.8$	p<0.001*	15.5 <b>±</b> 11.2	p=0.001*	
rotation	II (adapted set)	31.7 ± 14.2	57.9 ± 15.7	p<0.001*	26.3 ± 13.6	-	

\*p<0.05, considered statistically significant

Table 5 Comparison between groups by set of self-exercise, subclassified by BMI, gender, age, and affected
shoulder.

		Mean pain Mean ASES			Range of n	Range of motion (Mean degree improvement)				
	Group	score	score	Forward	Abduction	Adduction	Extension	Internal	External	
		decrement	improvement	flexion				rotation	rotation	
	I (usual set)	-3.7±1.5	18.3±7.5	15.3±18.6	20.0±19.6	10.2±9 <b>.0</b>	5.0±9.3	9.5±11.5	8.8±11.1	
BMI<23	(N=6)									
	II (adapted	-3.9±1.6	20.3±9.5	44.8±19.8	53.4±22.1	14.6±8.6	15.8±7.9	22.4±10.6	25.6±12.2	
	set) (N=11)									
	p-value	p=0.769	p=0.673	p=0.009*	p=0.008*	p=0.329	p=0.023*	p=0.035*	p=0.014*	
	I (usual set)	-3.5±2.5	$18.3 \pm 14.1$	22.1±12.3	20.8±15.2	7.9±6.3	9.9±7.7	12.9±7.3	16.9±10.8	
BMI≥23	(N=29)									
	II (adapted	-4.8±1.8	24.4±10.0	42.0±22.2	51.7±31.2	17.3±13.0	18.7±7.7	23.9±11.0	26.6±14.5	
	set) (N=24)									
	p-value	p=0.039*	p=0.081	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p=0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p=0.007*	
	I (usual set)	-2.9±3.8	$14.3 \pm 18.8$	20.6±17.0	16.6±19.5	7.4±6.8	8.3±8.3	14.3±8.3	16.4±14.6	
Male	(N=7)									
	II (adapted	-5.0±1.3	27.5±11.7	61.0±21.4	63.3±18.1	15.5±22.1	19.8±6.5	27.5±11.4	33.7±6.6	
	set) (N=6)									
	p-value	p=0.212	p=0.165	p=0.003*	p=0.001*	p=0.375	p=0.019*	p=0.034*	p=0.022*	
	I (usual set)	-3.6±2.0	19.3±11.5	21.0±12.8	21.6±14.9	8.5±6.8	9.2±8.2	11.8±8.1	15.3±10.5	
Female	(N=28)									
	II (adapted	-4.4±1.8	22.2±9.5	39.1±19.5	49.9±29.7	16.7±8.9	17.4±8.0	22.6±10.7	24.7±14.3	
	set) (N=29)									
	p-value	p=0.148	p=0.305	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p=0.006*	
	I (usual set)	-3.8±1.9	20.5±11.4	19.4±13.5	23.6±13.8	9.6±6.8	10.6±7.4	12.2±8.2	15.1±11.9	
Age<65	(N=22)									
yrs.	II (adapted	-4.8±1.7	24.3±8.9	44.7±23.5	53.7±30.8	19.5±8.7	18.7±8.8	24.4±10.4	26.3±13.8	
	set) (N=24)									
	p-value	p=0.072	p=0.210	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p=0.002*	p<0.001*	p=0.006*	
	I (usual set)	-2.9±3.1	14.6±15.3	23.5±13.6	15.7±18.1	6.1±+6.1	6.3±8.8	12.5±8.2	16.1±10.4	
Age≥65	(N=13)									
yrs.	II (adapted	-3.8±1.7	20.5±11.7	38.9±15.3	48.9±22.9	9.7±14.8	15.9±4.7	21.2±11.9	26.3±14.0	
	set) (N=11)					0.45		0.045	0.05-	
	p-value	p=0.397	p=0.313	p=0.016*	p=0.001*	p=0.426	p=0.004*	p=0.045*	p=0.053	

\*p<0.05, considered statistically significant

According to the BMI criteria for Asians, patients in both groups were divided into normal weight (BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and overweight (BMI >23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) subgroups<sup>(10)</sup>. Group II showed a significant decrease in the pain score compared to group I in patients with BMI >23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (p=0.039). It also showed a significant improvement in range of motion in patients with a BMI >23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, which was better than that in those with a BMI <23 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

There were no significant differences between males and females. It also showed no difference between the patients who were <65 and  $\geq$ 65.

#### DISCUSSION

This study investigated the effects of a small group of exercises on patients with stiff shoulders. Seventy patients were divided into two groups, and a small set of self-exercises was assigned to each group: the usual set for Group I and the adapted set for Group II. In both groups, a small set of self-exercises produced significantly better results regarding pain score, functional score, and shoulder range of motion. In group II, significant improvements in pain score (p=0.049), functional score (p=0.038), and shoulder range of motion ( $p \le 0.001$ ) were observed compared with group I. This may be due to self-exercise patterns. The assisted passive stretching exercise in Group II

may have a better effect on the stretching of the joint capsule than the exercise in Group I. Wall climbing in front and wall climbing at the side in Group I may involve moving the body to help raise the arms higher more than moving the shoulder joint alone. While the assisted forward flexion stretching in Group II, which involves standing with the back to the wall, may assist in preventing the body from moving, the shoulder joint may stretch more as a result of this than it did in Group I. Sleeper stretching helped to improve range of motion by stretching the posterior capsule and musculature, according to a study by Laudner *et al.*<sup>(8)</sup>, and doorway stretching stretched the structure on the front of the shoulder joint.

Sleeper stretching has shown significant improvement in range of motion and is advantageeous for treating stiff shoulders. Chidambaram et al. reported that sleeper stretching and manual mobilization improved range of motion and pain scores<sup>(4)</sup>. Sule *et al.* demonstrated that sleeper stretching performed by therapists improved shoulder ranges of flexion, extension, internal rotation, and adduction but did not improve pain and function<sup>(16)</sup>. Sleeper stretching was limited by the space required because it had to be performed in a lying position. In this study, the pattern of selfexercise in Group II was adapted to be more convenient by adjusting the overhead reach and sleeper stretching exercise from a lying position to a standing position, demonstrating a better result than in Group II.

Subgroup analysis revealed that the adapted set of exercises had better effects than the usual set in patients with a BMI  $\geq$ 23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in terms of pain score, functional score, and shoulder range of motion. A thick torso may impede certain self-exercises in the overweight group, such as shoulder stretching with a towel. This is because, at the beginning of the exercise, the hand of the affected shoulder must be placed behind the back. Therefore, sleeper stretching in the standing position, which puts the arm in front, maybe more advantageous. Barbosa et al. reported that 53% of patients with a BMI >30 did not respond to conservative treatment and underwent arthroscopic surgery<sup>(1)</sup>. No studies have focused on the

effects of self-exercise in patients with obesity. According to the findings of this study, the adapted set of self-exercises improved pain, range of motion, and shoulder function, and patients with a BMI  $\geq$ 23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> benefited from the adapted set of self-exercises.

This study had some limitations. First, a small number of patients treated by a single physician may not represent the general Thai population. Secondly, the physicians who treated the patients were not blinded to the study.

#### **CONCLUSIONS**

According to the findings, the adapted selfexercise set may offer favorable results in treating patients with stiff shoulders and may also be a treatment option for overweight patients.

### REFERENCES

- Barbosa F, Swamy G, Salem H, et al. Chronic adhesive capsulitis (Frozen shoulder): Comparative outcomes of treatment in patients with diabetes and obesity. J Clin Orthop Trauma 2019;10:265-8.
- Brue S, Valentin A, Forssblad M, et al. Idiopathic adhesive capsulitis of the shoulder: a review. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2007;15:1048-54.
- Çelik D, Kaya Mutlu E. Does adding mobilization to stretching improve outcomes for people with frozen shoulder? A randomized controlled clinical trial. Clin Rehabil 2016;30:786-94.
- Chidambaram R., Muruganandam P., Bhandure K.S. The efficacy of sleeper's stretch and movement with mobilization on pain, range of motion & functional capacity in patients with adhesive capsulitis. Indian J Physiother Occup Ther 2020;14:149-55.
- Diercks RL, Stevens M. Gentle thawing of the frozen shoulder: A prospective study of supervised neglect versus intensive physical therapy in seventy-seven patients with frozen shoulder syndrome followed up for two years. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2004;13:499-502.

- Gajdosik RL, Bohannon RW. Clinical measurement of range of motion. Review of goniometry emphasizing reliability and validity. Phys Ther 1987;67:1867-72.
- Kelley MJ, McClure PW, Leggin BG. Frozen shoulder: evidence and a proposed model guiding rehabilitation. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2009;39:135-48.
- Laudner KG, Sipes RC, Wilson JT. The Acute effect of sleeper stretch on shoulder range of motion. J Athl Train 2008;43;359-63.
- 9. Lee SH, Yoon C, Chung SG, et al. Measurement of shoulder range of motion in patients with adhesive capsulitis using a Kinect. PLoS One 2015;10:e0129398.
- Lim JU, Lee JH, Kim JS, et al. Comparison of World Health Organization and Asia-Pacific body mass index classifications in COPD patients. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2017;12:2465-75.
- Matsen FA, Harryman DT, Lippitt SB, et al. Practical evaluation and management of the shoulder. 1<sup>st</sup> ed. London, England: W B Saunders; 1994. p.45-50.
- 12. Page MJ, Green S, Kramer S, et al. Manual therapy and exercise for adhesive capsulitis (frozen shoulder). Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;(8):CD011275.

- 13. Page P, Labbe A. Adhesive capsulitis: use the evidence to integrate your interventions. N Am J Sports Phys Ther 2010;5:266-73.
- Porramatikul M. Reliability of the American shoulder and elbow surgeons standardized shoulder assessment form (Thai version) for the evaluation of shoulder pain. Vajira Med J 2015;56:141-7.
- Saheb SR, Apparao P. A comparison between crossbody stretch versus sleeper stretch in periarthritis of shoulder. Int J Physiother 2015;2:1019-26.
- 16. Sule K, Rathi M, Palekar TJ, et al. Comparison of conventional therapy versus Sleeper stretch with conventional therapy in adhesive capsulitis. Int J Health Sci Res 2015;5:186-92.
- 17. Tanaka K, Saura R, Takahashi N, et al. Joint mobilization versus self-exercises for limited glenohumeral joint mobility: randomized controlled study of management of rehabilitation. Clin Rheumatol 2010;29:1439-44.
- Verma M, Rajput M, Kishore K, et al. Asian BMI criteria are better than WHO criteria in predicting Hypertension: A cross-sectional study from rural India. J Family Med Prim Care 2019;8:2095-100.

Original Article • Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 11-15



# Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics ISSN 2821-9848 (Print) ISSN 2821-9864 (Online) https://doi.org/10.56929/jseaortho-2024-0212 https://jseaortho.org

# Association Between Sarcopenia and Functional Independence After Acute Fragility Hip Fracture at 6 Months

Science Metadilogkul, MD<sup>1</sup>, Naputt Virasathienpornkul, MD<sup>1</sup>, Pariyut Chiarapattanakom, MD<sup>1</sup>, Nuttavut Chavalparit, MD<sup>1</sup>, Piyabuth Kittithamvongs, MD<sup>1</sup>, Piyatida Yousuk, BNS<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Orthopaedics, Lerdsin General Hospital, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, College of Medicine, Rangsit University, Bangkok, Thailand
 <sup>2</sup> Orthopaedic Nursing, Lerdsin Hospital, Department of Medical Services, Bangkok, Thailand

**Purpose:** The primary goal of hip fracture treatment is to allow ambulatory life as early as possible to avoid any subsequent complication after fracture. The European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) defined sarcopenia as the presence of both low muscle strength and low muscle quantity. Our purpose in this study was to identify the association between sarcopenia and functional independence after acute fragility hip fracture.

**Methods:** Patients 50 years old or more without neurologic diseases who encountered fragility hip fracture for the first time were included. Sarcopenia was assessed using EWGSOP revised 2018 criteria. Functional independence was assessed using the Barthel Index (BI) at 6 months after injury. Data were analyzed using multiple linear regression.

**Results:** A total of 240 patients were included; overall, 84 patients with and 156 without sarcopenia. Multiple linear regression analysis showed significant difference in BI at 6 months among those with and without sarcopenia (p<0.001). Specifically, the lower limb related components of BI were decreased four points in patients with sarcopenia, which is a more statistically significant result when compared to the overall BI score.

**Conclusions:** In this study, patients with sarcopenia were associated with functional independence impairment. Lower limb-related components of the BI must be specifically assessed in patients with hip fracture. Moreover, rehabilitation programs should be tailored to the specific needs of the patient.

Keywords: sarcopenia, hip fracture, prevalence, outcome

Hip fracture is common among older adults. Apart from healing the injury, returning the

Article history: Received: December 21, 2023 Revised: April 3, 2024 Accepted: April 18, 2024 Correspondence to: Science Metadilogkul, MD Orthopaedics, Lerdsin General Hospital, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, College of Medicine, Rangsit University, Bangkok, Thailand E-mail: sciorthop@gmail.com patient back to functional independence is the ultimate goal. With increase in age, muscle mass and quality change significantly. After about 50 years of age, muscle mass decreases at an annual rate of 1– 2%. The decline in muscle strength is even higher, amounting to 1.5% per year between ages 50 and 60 years and 3% per year thereafter<sup>(1,2)</sup>. In 2018, the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) redefined sarcopenia as presence of both low muscle strength and low muscle quantity or quality (Fig.1). Muscle strength is measured using grip strength or chair stand test. Conversely, muscle quantity, the appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASMM), is measured using Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA)<sup>(3)</sup>. Recent studies found that sarcopenia was present at a rate of up to 58% in patients with hip fracture and associated with falls and fractures, affecting the functional outcome and mortality in geriatric populations<sup>(4,5)</sup>.



Fig. 1 Diagnosis of sarcopenia.

(From: Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis 2018. Age and Ageing. 2019)

The return of the patient to the community requires adequate functional independency, which is generally assessed using the Barthel Index (BI)<sup>(6-8)</sup>. The BI comprises 10 components, of which 6 are related to the activities that use more lower limb functions. Those are bed or chair transfer, toilet use, mobility on level surface, dressing, climbing stairs, and bathing. We wondered whether the lower extremity-related components of Bathel Index (BI) would provide a clearer picture of the patients' functional independency. Therefore, BI components were divided into two groups; those with lower extremity-related Barthel Index (LER-BI) and those with non-lower extremity related Barthel Index (non-LER-BI).

We aimed to identify the association between sarcopenia and the lower extremity-related functional independency of patients after acute fragility hip fracture.

### **METHODS**

Patients aged 50 years or older with a diagnosis of acute fragility hip fracture, admitted in our hospital between April 2019 and January 2021, were included. The patients who had motor impairment from neurologic diseases, previous history of hip fractures, and incomplete data were excluded.

Data from medical records including sex, age, body mass index (BMI), ASMM by DXA, and handgrip strength during hospitalization for the treatment of hip fracture were collected.

Sarcopenia is defined as low muscle strength along with low muscle quantity. The muscle strength was measured using handgrip strength with Exacta Hydraulic Hand Dynamometer and performed with the Southampton protocol<sup>(9)</sup>. According to the revised EWGSOP 2018 criteria, handgrip strengths of <27 kg in male patients or <16 kg in female patients were used as cut-off points for low muscle strength. The ASMM measured using DXA was used as the indicator for the loss of muscle quantity. The ASMM results of <7.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in male patients or <5.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in female patients were used as cut-off points for low muscle quantity. We classified patients into two groups, non-sarcopenia and sarcopenia. According to EWGSOP 2018, patients who had both low muscle strength and low muscle quantity to the aforementioned level were classified as having sarcopenia(3).

Functional independence was assessed using BI at 6 months after injury. The Thai-version of BI, which yields good validity and reliability, was used<sup>(10)</sup>. Subgroup analysis of LER-BI and non-LER-BI were recorded.

Baseline characteristics were described as mean with standard deviation and frequency. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to identify the primary outcome with statistical significance at p-value <0.05. The independent variables were sarcopenia, sex, age, and BMI. The dependent variable was BI. STATA, version 16, was used for statistical analysis.

#### S. Metadilogkul et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 11-15

#### **RESULTS**

There were 375 consecutive patients treated in the hospital, of which 135 were excluded. Of the 245 patients included (Fig. 2), 76 male and 164 female and 156 (65%) did not have sarcopenia while 84 (35%) had sarcopenia. The mean age was 75.6 (50-93) years old. Overall, 10 (42.1%) patients had close intertrochanteric fracture and 139 (57.9%) had close femoral neck fracture.



Fig. 2 Study flow chart.

 Table 1 Demographic characteristics of the study population (N=240).

	Women	Men
п	164	76
Age	$79.6 \pm 16.8$	$71.5 \pm 15.4$
Body weight, kg	$54.9 \pm 11.9$	$68.6 \pm 11.4$
Height, m	$1.53\pm0.08$	$1.67\pm0.07$
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$23.5\pm4.7$	$25.2 \pm 3.4$
Body fat, %	$33.3 \pm 9.3$	$21.1 \pm 8.8$
Fat free body mass, kg	$35.3 \pm 5.3$	$39.3 \pm 7.5$
Appendicular skeletal muscle,		
kg		
Total	$17.6 \pm 2.6$	$27.3 \pm 3.9$
Leg	$13.8 \pm 1.9$	$20.6 \pm 2.8$
Arm	$3.8 \pm 1.0$	$6.7 \pm 1.5$
Appendicular skeletal muscle	$5.4 \pm 1.1$	$7.5 \pm 1.7$
mass (ASMM), kg/m <sup>2</sup>		
Hand grip strength, kg	$16.7 \pm 3.6$	$28.9 \pm 4.5$

Univariate analysis showed a statistically significant difference between the mean BI of patients without sarcopenia (mean  $\pm$  SD = 17.70  $\pm$  1.62) and that of those with sarcopenia (mean  $\pm$  SD = 13.34  $\pm$  2.01), (p<0.001) (Fig.3). Furthermore, the difference between the LER-BI of those without sarcopenia (mean  $\pm$  SD = 10.94  $\pm$  1.42) and that of those with sarcopenia (mean  $\pm$  SD = 7.02  $\pm$  1.62), (p<0.001) was significantly different. There was also a statistically significant difference between the mean non-LER-BI of those without sarcopenia (mean  $\pm$  SD = 6.76  $\pm$  0.51) and that of those with sarcopenia (mean  $\pm$  SD = 6.32  $\pm$  0.80), (p<0.001) (Fig.4).



Fig. 3 Difference in mean BI between groups.



Fig. 4 Difference in non-LER-BI and LER-BI between groups.

Multiple linear regression analysis showed a significant association between BI at 6 months after injury and sarcopenia, sex, age, and BMI. Compared to those without sarcopenia, the BI was four points lower in those with sarcopenia

#### S. Metadilogkul et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 11-15

(p<0.001). The BI was also found to be decreased by one point in the female group (p=0.027). Details of the outcomes are shown in table 2.

Subgroup analysis, focusing on the lower limb related activities, showed that the BI was significantly lower in those with sarcopenia compared to those without, 13.3 vs 17.7 (p<0.001)(Fig.3). Compared to the non-sarcopenia group, the mean LER-BI was four points lower (p<0.001) (Table 3) and the mean non-LER-BI was 0.4 points lower (p=0.002) in those with sarcopenia compared to those without (Table 4).

Table 2 Multiple	linear regression	analysis: Barthel	Index assessed at 6	6 months after injury.

Variables	Coefficient	p-Value	95% CI
Sarcopenia	-4.08	< 0.001	-4.74 -3.42
Sex			
Female	-0.81	0.027	-15.2 -0.09
Age	-0.05	0.004	-0.08 -0.01
Body mass index	0.11	0.007	0.03 0.18

Statistically significant at p<0.05

Table 3 Subgroup analysis: Lower Extremity related Barthel Index (LER-BI) at 6 months after injury.

Variables	Coefficient	p-Value	95% CI
Sarcopenia	-3.68	< 0.001	-4.24 -3.12
Sex			
Female	-0.62	0.045	-1.23 -0.02
Age	-0.04	0.009	-0.06 -0.01
Body mass index	0.10	0.004	0.03 0.16

Statistically significant at p<0.05

**Table 4** Subgroup analysis: Non-Lower Extremity related Barthel Index (non-LER-BI) at 6 months after injury.

Variables	Coefficient	p-Value	95% CI
Sarcopenia	-0.40	0.002	-0.65 -0.15
Sex			
Female	-0.19	0.175	-0.46 0.08
Age	-0.01	0.084	-0.02 0.001
Body mass index	0.01	0.491	-0.02 0.04

Statistically significant at p<0.05

## DISCUSSION

Several factors affect the recovery of patients with acute hip fracture. Sarcopenia indicates the muscle strength and muscle quantity and is now generally accepted as one of the major predictors of functional outcomes in older people. Therefore, assessing sarcopenia in every patient with hip fracture is crucial for the assessment of the correct prognosis and maximization of the recovery program of a patient at risk. This study showed a deficiency of the functional independence among patients with hip fracture related to the existence and degree of the sarcopenia.

#### S. Metadilogkul et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 11-15

The difference in the mean of BI among those with and without sarcopenia was more pronounced when the lower extremity related components of the BI was considered. However, the total BI score itself was not as significant or meaningful as the breakdown into individual items since these indicate where the deficiencies were.

Assessment of LER-BI seemed precise and time-effective in the evaluation of the patient postfracture. A rehabilitation program tailored specifically to the deficiencies of the patient with hip fracture would be more useful and applicable. A scheme to follow patients' progression in the rehabilitation program can be planned. This strategy can lead to a more positive post-fracture functional outcome.

A limitation of this study was that it was a single-center study with one protocol for postfracture rehabilitation for all hip fracture patients that might not be generalizable to the overall population of patients with hip fractures. To define sarcopenia using grip strength as the muscle strength measuring tool might not directly measure the affected part. However, the chair stand test, which is the other option to assess muscle strength could not be used due to the hip fracture. We used EWGSOP 2018 criteria instead of Asian working group for sarcopenia, AWGS 2019 due to the late launch of AWGS after our research was conducted. However, the cut-off values of these two criteria for the hand grip and the ASMM are quite similar, that is <27 kg in men and <16 kg in women for EWGSOP 2018 and <28 kg in men and <18 kg in women for AWGS 2019. ASMM cut-off values are <7.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in men and <5.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in women for EWSGOP 2018 and <7.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in men <5.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in women for AWGS 2019.

### **CONCLUSIONS**

Sarcopenia was associated with the impairment of the patient's functional independence after acute hip fracture. When assessing a patient with hip fracture, there should be a focus on the lower limb related components of the BI. A rehabilitation program can be tailored to the specific impaired site and needs of the patient.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Abellan van Kan G. Epidemiology and consequences of sarcopenia. J Nutr Health Aging 2009;13:708-12.
- Doherty TJ. Invited review: Aging and sarcopenia. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2003;95:1717-27.
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing 2019;48:16-31.
- Di Monaco M, Castiglioni C, De Toma E, et al. Presarcopenia and sarcopenia in hip-fracture women: prevalence and association with ability to function in activities of daily living. Aging Clin Exp Res 2015;27:465-72.
- González-Montalvo JI, Alarcón T, Gotor P, et al. Prevalence of sarcopenia in acute hip fracture patients and its influence on short-term clinical outcome. Geriatr Gerontol Int 2016;16:1021-7.
- Collin C, Wade DT, Davies S, Horne V. The Barthel ADL Index: a reliability study. Int Disabil Stud 1988;10:61-3.
- Mahoney FI, Barthel DW. Functional evaluation: the Barthel index. Md State Med J 1965;14:61-5.
- Wade DT, Collin C. The Barthel ADL Index: a standard measure of physical disability?. Int Disabil Stud 1988;10:64-7.
- Roberts HC, Denison HJ, Martin HJ, et al. A review of the measurement of grip strength in clinical and epidemiological studies: towards a standardised approach. Age Ageing 2011;40: 423-9.
- 10. Laohaprasitiporn P, Jarusriwanna A, Unnanuntana A. Validity and reliability of the Thai version of the Barthel index for elderly patients with femoral neck fracture. J Med Assoc Thai 2017;100:539-48.



# Comparative Study of Union Rate in Closed Humerus Shaft Fracture After Operative Fixation with Anteromedial Versus Anterolateral Surface Plating Using the Anterolateral Approach: A Randomized Controlled Study

# Tana Rattanakitkoson, MD, Narongrit Lothaisong, MD, Naruepol Ruangsillapanan, MD

Department of Orthopedics, Maharat Nakhon Ratchasima Hospital, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand

**Purpose:** Plate osteosynthesis is considered the gold standard for treating humeral shaft fractures, and orthopedic surgeons widely use the anterolateral approach with anterolateral surface placement. However, surgeons may have difficulties with the non-smooth surface and proximity to the radial nerve during their use. To address this challenge, we propose introducing the anterolateral approach with anteronedial surface placement. This study aimed to compare the outcomes between anteromedial and anterolateral surface plating using the anterolateral approach.

**Methods:** This study included 74 patients who sustained a mid-shaft humerus fracture (AO 12) and underwent open reduction internal fixation between December 2020 and December 2022. Twelve patients were excluded based on the exclusion criteria. Among the remaining patients, 30 were randomized and allocated to surgery with anteromedial surface plating, while 32 patients were treated with anterolateral surface plating through an anterolateral approach. Postoperative clinical and radiographic results were recorded and analyzed.

**Results**: The union rate, blood loss, operative time, and complications were not significantly different between the two groups. All the patients healed radiographically except for two in the anterolateral surface plating group, who required reoperation. Although anteroposterior alignment was significantly better in the anteromedial surface plating group, it was not clinically significant.

**Conclusions:** Anteromedial plating demonstrated a commendable union rate, offered assured alignment, and presented itself as a secure option for addressing fractures of the humerus shaft.

**Keywords:** Humerus, Humerus shaft fracture, Anteromedial plating, Anterolateral plating, Anterolateral approach

Humeral shaft fractures represent approximately 1–3% of all fractures<sup>(1)</sup>. Conservative treat-

Article history: Received: March 13, 2024 Revised: May 21, 2024 Accepted: June 4, 2024 Correspondence to: Tana Rattanakitkoson, MD Department of Orthopedics, Maharat Nakhon Ratchasima Hospital, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand E-mail: thana.kr@cpird.in.th ment remains the mainstay for isolated humeral shaft fractures, yielding generally favorable outcomes<sup>(2)</sup>. Nevertheless, non-surgical approaches are linked to certain morbidities and complications, including nonunion, which has been reported to be as high as 25% in some studies, malunion, and persistent radial nerve deficits<sup>(3)</sup>. Surgical treatment becomes necessary in specific circumstances, including open fractures, associated neurovascular injuries, floating elbow, pathologic fractures, and

instances where non-operative management has proven ineffective. Surgical options encompass plate osteosynthesis, intramedullary nailing, or external fixation. Plate fixation remains the preferred method for surgically managing humeral shaft fractures due to its superior biomechanical properties in resisting anti-torsional forces<sup>(4)</sup>. The anterolateral surface plating, employed through an anterolateral approach, is widely utilized. However, the consideration of anteromedial surface plating, a less commonly discussed alternative, for humeral shaft fracture management is relatively rare<sup>(5-8)</sup>.

The anteromedial surface plating method has demonstrated numerous advantages for managing humeral mid-shaft fractures. One notable benefit is the plate's noninterference with the radial nerve, with no requirement to anatomically prebend the plate due to the smooth, bony surface<sup>(9)</sup>.

This study primarily aimed to investigate the outcomes related to the union rate. The seconddary objective was to assess operative time, blood loss, alignment, and complications associated with the fixation of humeral mid-shaft fractures. We compared the anteromedial and anterolateral surface plating methods using an anterolateral approach.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Selection of Patients**

This randomized controlled study includeed 74 patients who sustained a humerus shaft fracture and underwent open reduction and internal fixation in our institute between December 2020 and December 2022, following approval by our local ethics committee. The inclusion criteria were a closed mid-humeral shaft fracture (AO 12), patients aged 20–60 years, and those who underwent surgery within 2 weeks after the initial injury. The exclusion criteria were an open fracture, vascular injury, radial nerve injury, pathological fracture, and ipsilateral upper limb injury (Fig. 1).

Informed consent was obtained from all the patients before inclusion in the study. The procedure was randomized using sealed envelopes in blocks of four to select the techniques of fixation. The envelopes were opened before making any skin incisions. The anterolateral approach was employed for all patients, with anteromedial and anterolateral surface plating for 30 and 32 patients, respecttively. A senior trauma surgical team conducted all procedures. Table 1 presents the demographic data of the patients.



Fig. 1 CONSORT flow diagram.

Table 1 Baseline characteri	stics of the patients.
-----------------------------	------------------------

	Anteromedial plating group	Anterolateral plating group	p-value
Patient, n	30	32	
Gender, n (%)			
Male	19 (63.33)	24 (75.00)	0.319
Female	11 (36.67)	8 (25.00)	
Age, mean (SD)	38.93 (12.83)	35 (10.93)	0.198
Smoking status, n (%)	13 (43.33)	16 (50.00)	0.599
Mechanism of injury, n (%)			
Traffic accident	21 (70.00)	24 (75.00)	0.659
Fall from height	9 (30.00)	8 (25.00)	
Fracture type (AO/OTA Classification), n (%)			
Type A	10 (33.33)	15 (46.88)	0.419
Туре В	19 (63.33)	15 (46.88)	
Type C	1 (3.33)	2 (6.25)	

# Surgical Techniques Anteromedial Surface Plating

Patients were placed in the supine position on a radiolucent table with the arm in abduction on an arm board after the induction of general anesthesia, and the entire limb was prepared, exposing the shoulder and elbow. The instruments used for all procedures consisted of a 4.5-mm narrow dynamic compression plate and a 4.5-mm cortical screw. The humerus was approached using the standard anterolateral technique (Fig. 2A)<sup>(10)</sup>. The incision was made along the lateral border of the biceps with sufficient length to allow insertion of the plate. The space between the biceps and brachialis was identified, and the musculocutaneous nerve was visualized and protected. The biceps muscle was retracted medially, and the brachialis muscle was split longitudinally to expose the humerus. Half of the brachialis was used as a cushion to protect the radial nerve on the lateral side, and we avoided placing the Hohmann retractor on the lateral side to reduce the risk of radial nerve injury. The fracture was then reduced, and the plate was applied to the anteromedial surface of the humerus, achieving temporary fixation with a bone reduction clamp (Fig. 2B). The arm was externally rotated to facilitate the visualization of the anteromedial surface of the humerus and to insert cortical screws for fixation (Fig. 2C). The

fractures were fixed using a compression plate in type A fractures. In contrast, the fractures were fixed with a bridging plate technique in type B and C fractures. Intraoperative fluoroscopy was used in cases of comminution where alignment and rotation were difficult to assess intraoperatively. The final steps included wound hemostasis, wound closure, and suction drain insertion. The surgery time, blood loss, and intraoperative complications were recorded. Plain anteroposterior (AP) and lateral humerus radiographs were obtained on the first postoperative day to analyze the quality of reduction (Fig. 2D).

#### **Anterolateral Plating**

We performed plate fixation through the anterolateral incision using the technique mentioned above; however, the plate fixation was applied to the anterolateral surface.

### Postoperative Care and Follow-Up

A pouch arm sling was used, and the suction drain was removed 2 days postoperatively. The wound was inspected, and a sterile dressing was applied. A passive, assistive range of motion was encouraged from postoperative day 3 to avoid elbow and shoulder stiffness. Stitches were removed 2 weeks postoperatively.





**Fig. 2** A: Skin incision. B: Exposure of the anteromedial surface of the humerus and application of the plate to the bone. C: External rotation of the arm and cortical screw fixation performance. D: Postoperative radiograph.

Patients were followed up at 2 weeks, 6 weeks, 3 months, and 6 months postoperatively and until radiographic union was achieved. Follow-up included plain radiographs and clinical assessments, such as pain at rest and the ability to perform activities of daily living. The following methods were used to assess plain radiographic parameters.

The patient was positioned for the X-ray by well-trained orthopedic residents. The plain radiographs included the shoulder and elbow. A highquality AP view was indicated by the visibility of the medial and lateral epicondyles in the distal humerus and the greater tuberosity on the lateral aspect of the proximal humerus. For the lateral view, the medial and lateral epicondyles were superimposed, and the scapula was in a lateral (Yshaped) position. The assessment was performed by one well-trained orthopedic resident and one trauma orthopedic surgeon without blinding, as the assessors could see the plate position on the plain radiographs. The radiographic parameters were recorded at the last follow-up or at the radiographic union, and the radiographic parameters are discussed below.

**Union** was characterized by the presence of bone bridging the fracture site across both cortices on radiographs taken in two planes, using established techniques for assessing tibial union, along with the clinical absence of pain and mobility at the fracture site<sup>(11)</sup>. Achievement of the union was acknowledged when the specified criteria were met within the initial 26 weeks, while the delayed union was characterized by union occurring after the 26 weeks<sup>(12)</sup>.

**AP angulation** was measured on the AP view. The angle was measured by drawing a line along the axis of the humerus proximal to the fracture site and another line along the axis of the humerus distal to the fracture site. The angle between these lines represents the AP angulation.

**Lateral angulation** was measured similarly but along the lateral view of the fracture. One line was drawn along the axis of the humerus proximal to the fracture site, and another was drawn along the axis of the humerus distal to the fracture site. The angle between these lines represents the lateral angulation<sup>(13)</sup>.

#### Sample Size and Statistical Analysis

The sample size, calculated using a test comparing two independent means in Stata version 15.1 (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas), was determined based on a similar study. The primary outcome, the union rate at 3 months, was 97% for the study group<sup>(14)</sup> and 60% for the control group<sup>(15)</sup>. With a level of significance at 5% and power of 80%, the calculated sample size was 50. However, the total sample size became 60, allowing for a 20% loss to follow-up and dropout. Continuous variables, including age, time to union, operative times, blood loss, and alignment, were reported as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile ranges. Categorical variables were presented as frequency and percentage. Differences in continuous data were assessed using Student's two-sample t-tests or the Wilcoxon rank sum test. Differences in categorical variables were evaluated through the chi-square test or Fisher exact test. A p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. The reliability of measurements between two assessors was reported using a two-way mixed model intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). The reliability was good, with

an ICC of 0.954 for AP angulation and 0.938 for lateral angulation.

#### RESULTS

This study enrolled 62 participants. Table 1 presents the demographic data for the two groups. Baseline characteristics, encompassing sex, age, smoking status, mechanism of injury, and fracture type, were comparable between both groups. The primary mechanism of injury in both groups was a traffic accident. The predominant fracture type was the AO Foundation/Orthopedic Trauma Association (AO/OTA) type B in the anteromedial plating group, and a mix of AO/OTA types A and B in the anterolateral plating group.

Three patients each were lost to follow-up in both groups due to financial problems. Thus, the analysis included 27 and 29 patients in the anteromedial and anterolateral plating groups, respecttively. The data on union rate at the 3-month follow-up, time to radiographic union, operative time, blood loss, alignment, and complications in both groups are presented in Table 2. The union rate at the 3-month follow-up was 88.89% in the anteromedial plating group and 86.21% in the anterolateral plating group, with no statistically significant difference (p=0.762). The mean time to union in the anteromedial plating group was 13.54 weeks, whereas it was 12.75 weeks in the anterolateral plating group, with no statistically significant difference (p=0.649). Operative time was quite similar in both groups; however, the amount of

**Table 2** Intraoperative and postoperative outcomes in both groups.

	Anteromedial plating group (N=27)	Anterolateral plating group (N=29)	p-value
Union at 3 months, n (%)	24 (88.89)	25 (86.21)	0.762
Union time (week)	$13.54 \pm 4.52$	$12.75 \pm 7.78$	0.649
Operative time (min)	$79.19 \pm 5.12$	$81.00 \pm 6.16$	0.822
Blood loss (mL)	$146.67 \pm 21.03$	$193.6 \pm 23.55$	0.145
Alignment ( <sup>o</sup> )			
AP angulation	$1.83 \pm 0.53$	$3.42 \pm 0.53$	0.04
Lateral angulation	$4.21 \pm 0.84$	$3.10 \pm 0.49$	0.252
Complications			
Nonunion, n (%)	0	2 (6.90)	0.164

bleeding was slightly higher in the anterolateral plating group, although this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.145). AP angulation was significantly better in the anteromedial plating group, with a mean difference of  $1.59^{\circ}$  (p=0.04). However, this had little effect on the clinical and functional outcomes of the patients, and the alignment was acceptable in both groups.

Both groups had no radial palsy. In the anterolateral plating group, two patients experienced nonunion and required reoperation (Fig. 3). They underwent re-fixation using anterolateral plating and received iliac bone graft insertion, resulting in an uneventful union of the fractures.



**Fig. 3** A: Postoperative radiograph after fixation with anterolateral plating. B: Follow-up at 6 months showed nonunion of the fracture and loosening of screws. C: Revised fixation with longer anterolateral plating and an iliac bone graft. D: Follow-up at 6 months showed union of the fracture.

## DISCUSSION

The gold standard technique for humeral shaft fracture treatment involves open reduction and fixation with a plate and screws, a well-established procedure<sup>(4)</sup>. Securing a strong fixation with the plate and screws is imperative for the early initiation of postoperative functional exercises and the restoration of limb function.

The cross-sectional shape of the humerus from the shaft to the distal metaphysis is triangular. It has three aspects: the surface, anteromedial, anterolateral, and posterior, where we can apply plate fixation<sup>(16,17)</sup>. Currently, anterolateral plating is the most widely used; however, it has some drawbacks. The lateral aspect of the humerus is rough, leading to medial gapping during fixation. The plate often needs to be pre-contoured before placement. In contrast, the anteromedial surface is smoother, allowing the plate to be placed without pre-contouring.

For effective biomechanical considerations, it is recommended to position the plate on the tension side of the injury, allowing placement on the anterolateral or posterior areas of the bone<sup>(18)</sup>. In contrast to the femur or tibia, which primarily bear weight, the humerus experiences significant rotational forces, enabling placement of the plate on the medial aspect<sup>(19)</sup>. Some studies indicate that anteromedial plates exhibit mechanical properties similar to those of anterolateral and posterior plates, which implies that the fixation strength of anteromedial plates meets the mechanical requirements for humeral shaft fracture surgery<sup>(20)</sup>.

Sanjay et al. performed medial plating through an anterolateral approach to stabilize humeral shaft fractures and found that the average operative time was 45 min, shorter compared to our study's 79 min; however, they reported an average blood loss of 200 mL, significantly more than our study's 147 mL. Callus was observed from 8 to 10 weeks. Within 3 months, patients had reintegrated their routine activities back into their lives<sup>(14)</sup>.

Rai et al. conducted a prospective observational study to compare anteromedial and anterolateral surface plating through an anterolateral approach in mid-shaft humeral shaft fractures. They discovered that anteromedial surface plating decreased fracture exposure time (24 min vs. 47 min, p=0.05) and blood loss in dissection (50 mL vs. 110 mL, p=0.05) significantly. Almost all patients (98.6%) achieved union at 12 months<sup>(9)</sup>.

The study by Kirin et al. demonstrated the advantages of anteromedial surface plating using an anterolateral approach over anterolateral surface plating in terms of reducing the incidence of iatrogenic radial nerve palsy and operative time. They observed no cases of iatrogenic radial nerve palsy when using anteromedial plating, whereas anterolateral plating resulted in 11.46% incidence. The mean operative time for anteromedial plating was significantly shorter compared to anterolateral plating (55.45 min vs. 74.61 min)<sup>(21)</sup>.

Recently, two randomized controlled studies compared anteromedial and anterolateral surface plating using the anterolateral approach. The first study, conducted by Gangwar et al., examined functional outcomes and union rates at 12 weeks. They found that functional outcomes, according to Rodriguez Merchan criteria, were good to excellent in 86.9% of the anteromedial surface plating group and 82.6% of the anterolateral surface plating group, with no statistically significant difference. The union rate at 12 weeks was 78.3%, with a mean union time of  $11.7 \pm 1.5$  weeks for the anteromedial surface plating group, and 56.5% with a mean union time of  $12.3 \pm 1.8$  weeks for the anterolateral surface plating group, with no statistically signifycant difference. The anterolateral approach used in this study differed between the two groups: in the anterolateral surface plating group, the brachialis muscle was split longitudinally to the bone, whereas in the anteromedial plating group, the biceps muscle was retracted medially, and the brachialis muscle was elevated from its medial margin, along with the musculocutaneous nerve<sup>(22)</sup>.

The second study, conducted by Shodipo et al., examined iatrogenic radial nerve injury between the two groups. They found that iatrogenic radial nerve injury occurred in 9.3% of the anterolateral surface plating group compared with 4.8% of the anteromedial surface plating group, with no statistically significant difference<sup>(23)</sup>.

In our study, we demonstrated no signifycant inter-group differences in union rate at the 3month follow-up, time to union, operative time, blood loss, or complications. There was no radial nerve palsy in either group because our surgical technique uses the lateral half of the brachialis as a cushion to protect the radial nerve and avoids placing the Hohmann retractor on the lateral side. The advantage of anteromedial plating lies in its smooth surface, which slightly aids in improving AP alignment, as indicated in our study. However, the alignments after fixation in both groups are deemed acceptable.

Anteromedial plating offers benefits such as a simpler application of the plate on the smooth medial surface compared to the irregular anterolateral surface of the humerus, eliminates the need for plate contouring and leads to improved AP alignment as shown in our study, results in no iatrogenic radial nerve palsy, and comparable outcome with anterolateral plating. However, when using anteromedial plating in comminuted fractures, some concerns should be considered. Before screw fixation, the arm needs to be externally rotated, which can cause rotational malalignment. Therefore, our recommendation is always to check rotation using fluoroscopy and assess the shoulder's range of motion after plate fixation.

The strength of our study is that it was a prospective randomized controlled trial comparing anteromedial and anterolateral surface plating regarding union rate, operative time, blood loss, alignment, and complications. Another strength is that the operations were performed by a single experienced trauma surgeon using the same approach and techniques. A limitation of our study is that we did not compare functional and clinical outcomes between the two groups. Further studies should include a larger population and compare functional and clinical outcomes between the groups.

#### CONCLUSIONS

This study offers valuable insights into the outcomes of anteromedial surface plating for humeral shaft fractures through an anterolateral approach, demonstrating acceptable union rates and overall satisfactory clinical results. This fixation technique can be employed safely and effectively for humeral shaft fractures.

#### REFERENCES

- Ekholm R, Adami J, Tidermark J, et al. Fractures of the shaft of the humerus. An epidemiological study of 401 fractures. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2006;88:1469-73.
- Sarmiento A, Kinman PB, Galvin EG, et al. Functional bracing of fractures of the shaft of the humerus. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1977;59:596-601.
- 3. Rämö L, Sumrein BO, Lepola V, et al. Effect of surgery vs functional bracing on functional

outcome among patients with closed displaced humeral shaft fractures: The FISH randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2020;323:1792-801.

- 4. Orapiriyakul W, Apivatthakakul V, Theppariyapol B, et al. Humerus shaft fractures, approaches and management. J Clin Orthop Trauma 2023;43:102230.
- Blum J, Rommens PM. Surgical approaches to the humeral shaft. Acta Chir Belg 1997;97:237-43.
- 6. Klenerman L. Fractures of the shaft of the humerus. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1966;48:105-11.
- Mulier T, Seligson D, Sioen W, et al. Operative treatment of humeral shaft fractures. Acta Orthop Belg 1997;63:170-7.
- Vander Griend R, Tomasin J, Ward EF. Open reduction and internal fixation of humeral shaft fractures. Results using AO plating techniques. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1986;68:430-3.
- Rai SK, Sud AD, Kashid M, et al. Anteromedial surface plating for midshaft fracture humerus through an anterolateral approach - A better option than anterolateral plating. Malays Orthop J 2020;14:66-72.
- 10. Liskutin T, Summers H, Lack W, et al. Surgical technique: Anterolateral approach to the humerus. J Orthop Trauma 2018;32 Suppl 1:S6-S7.
- 11. Whelan DB, Bhandari M, Stephen D, et al. Development of the radiographic union score for tibial fractures for the assessment of tibial fracture healing after intramedullary fixation. J Trauma 2010;68:629-32.
- 12. Harkin FE, Large RJ. Humeral shaft fractures: union outcomes in a large cohort. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2017;26:1881-8.
- 13. Milner SA. A more accurate method of measurement of angulation after fractures of the tibia. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1997;79:972-4.
- 14. Sanjay M, Raf M, Goud H, et al. Medial plating of humerus shaft fractures through anterolateral

approach. IOSR Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences 2017;16:18-23.

- 15. Vijayashankar M, Jayaprakash BA, Arumugam B. A prospective analysis of functional outcome of humeral diaphyseal fractures treated with dynamic compression plate. International Journal of Contemporary Medical Research 2016;3:2725-8.
- 16. Qu X. Morphological effects of mechanical forces on the human humerus. Br J Sports Med 1992;26:51-3.
- Apivatthakakul T, Arpornchayanon O, Bavornratanavech S. Minimally invasive plate osteosynthesis (MIPO) of the humeral shaft fracture. Is it possible? A cadaveric study and preliminary report. Injury 2005;36:530-8.
- Müller ME. Treatment of nonunions by compression. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1965;43:83-92.
- Ambrósio J, Quental C, Pilarczyk B, et al. Multibody biomechanical models of the upper limb. Procedia IUTAM 2011;2:4-17.
- 20. Zheng YF, Zhou JL, Wang XH, et al. Biomechanical study of the fixation strength of anteromedial plating for humeral shaft fractures. Chin Med J (Engl) 2016;129:1850-5.
- 21. Kirin I, Jurišić D, Grebić D, et al. The advantages of humeral anteromedial plate osteosynthesis in the middle third shaft fractures. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2011;123:83-7.
- 22. Gangwar V, Goel N, Dua A, et al. A comparison of anteromedial plating versus anterolateral plating for humerus shaft fractures using the anterolateral approach. Cureus 2024;16:e57235.
- 23. Shodipo OM, Ibrahim SS, Ajiboye LO, et al. Anterolateral versus anteromedial plate osteosynthesis of midshaft humeral fractures; is there a difference in the rates of iatrogenic radial nerve palsy?. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg 2024.



# Outcomes of Perilunate Dislocation and Perilunate Fracture Dislocation After a Minimum 1-Year Follow-Up Following Open Reduction and Internal Fixation Via the Dorsal Approach: A Retrospective Study

Phanumas Muennoi, MD, Thananit Sangkomkamhang, MD, PhD

Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Khon Kaen Hospital, Khon Kaen, Thailand

**Purpose:** This study aimed to review and evaluate the functional and radiographic outcomes of patients with perilunate injuries after a minimum 1-year follow-up following open reduction and internal fixation with or without ligament repair.

**Methods:** This retrospective study included patients with perilunate injuries who underwent open reduction and internal fixation with or without ligament repair at our hospital between 2013 and 2021 with a minimum 1-year follow-up.

**Results:** Of the 22 enrolled patients, 18 and 4 exhibited perilunate fracture dislocation and perilunate dislocation, respectively. The mean follow-up period was 15.3 (12–20) months. The mean age of the patients was  $30.5 \pm 10.2$  years. Notably, 20 (90.9%) and 2 (9.1%) patients were males and females, respectively. The mean flexion/extension angles were  $67.2^{\circ}/76.2^{\circ}$ . The mean ulnar deviation/radial deviation was  $25.4^{\circ}/13.8^{\circ}$ , and the mean pronation/supination was  $85.6^{\circ}/88.3^{\circ}$ . As secondary outcomes, the mean grip strength was 80% of the uninjured side, modified Mayo wrist score was 73.6 (1 excellent, 6 good, 11 fair, and 4 poor), and visual analog scale during the activities of daily living (ADL) was 0.59. For radiographic outcomes, the mean scapholunate angle (SL angle) was  $50.4^{\circ}$ , SL gap was 2.43 mm., and carpal height ratio was 0.50. Four and nine patients had an incongruent Gilula's line and arthrosis, respectively.

**Conclusions:** Satisfactory results can be achieved with open reduction and internal fixation using a dorsal approach. Although some patients had abnormal radiographic findings, the radiographic outcomes may not correlate with the functional outcomes.

**Keywords:** perilunate dislocation, perilunate fracture dislocation, modified Mayo wrist score, scapholunate angle, carpal height ratio

Article history: Received: August 2, 2023 Revised: June 7, 2024 Accepted: June 27, 2024 Correspondence to: Phanumas Muennoi, MD Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Khon Kaen Hospital, Khon Kaen, Thailand E-mail: phanumasmuennoi@gmail.com Perilunate injuries, encompassing perilunate dislocation (PLD) and perilunate fracture dislocation (PLFD) (Figure 1), are uncommon injuries<sup>(1,8)</sup> and usually occur in young patients due to severe injuries owing to traffic accidents, workrelated injuries, or sports injuries<sup>(6,8)</sup>. The diagnosis of these injuries requires specialized expertise and supervision, and misdiagnosis may lead to delayed treatment and poor outcomes<sup>(14)</sup>.

#### P. Muennoi et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 24-30

At present, open reduction is recommended to treat such injuries to re-align the bone and evaluate injuries to other structures, such as ligaments, cartilage, and carpus<sup>(2-8)</sup>. Open reduction offers the advantage of realigning the bone to its anatomical position and repairing of the ligaments. However, the techniques and outcomes of open reduction remain debatable<sup>(2-7,9-13)</sup>. In addition, complications such as joint stiffness and osteoarthritis of the wrist may arise from various treatments. Therefore, this study aimed to evaluate the functional and radiographic outcomes of patients with perilunate injuries treated via open reduction and internal fixation using a dorsal approach.

## Objective

To study the functional and radiographic outcomes of patients with PLD and PLFD after a minimum 1-year follow-up following dorsal approach surgery.



**Fig. 1** Radiographic images of a patient with trans-scaphoid perilunate fracture dislocation (A, B) and transradial and ulnar styloid perilunate fracture dislocation (C, D).

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Study Participants**

Patients diagnosed with PLD and PLFD who underwent dorsal approach surgery from 2013 to 2021 and were followed up for at least 1 year were enrolled in this study. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (i) patients aged between 18 and 60 years and (ii) patients who underwent surgery within 6 weeks after the injury date. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (i) patients with injuries in the hand and wrist on the same side, affecting the movement of the hand and wrist and (ii) patients with multiple injuries, such as a brain or nerve injury, that affect hand and wrist movement. This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of our hospital (research project code: KEXP64085, dated December 7, 2021).

#### Methods

This retrospective study enrolled patients diagnosed with PLD and perilunate fracture dislocation who underwent open reduction and internal fixation via the dorsal approach from 2013-2021. Data were divided into the following two parts: (i) information from the medical records, including demographic data; information about the injury, diagnosis, follow-up period, and preoperative period; and functional outcomes such as range of motion, grip strength, modified Mayo wrist score, and visual analog scale. (ii) Information on the radiographic outcomes (Figure 2) of the injured carpal bones obtained from the infinite radiographic computer program of the PACS at our hospital. The following parameters were measured: scapholunate angle (SL angle), SL gap, Gilula's line,

carpal height ratio, and joint arthrosis. Outcomes were measured after internal fixation and volar plaster slab removal (approximately 12 weeks), and the mean follow-up time was 15.3 months (12–20 months).



**Fig. 2** Trajectory of the Gilula's line (A), measurement of the SL angle (B), SL gap (C), and carpal height ratio (L2/L1) (D).



**Fig. 3** Surgical technique. Surgical incision on the wrist (A), 3<sup>rd</sup> extensor compartment was retracted (B), ligament splitting arthrotomy (C), transosseous suture for SL repair (D).

### Surgical Technique

All patients who met the inclusion criteria underwent surgery under general or regional anesthesia. The surgery began with a dorsal longitudinal incision of the wrist (Figure 3A), and the extensor retinaculum between the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> extensor tendon compartments was opened (Figure 3B). The posterior joint capsule was exposed by retracting the extensor pollicis longus and extensor digitorum communis, including the extensor indicis proprius, laterally and medially, respectively. An arthrotomy was then performed using the ligament-splitting technique (Figure 3C) to access the injured carpal bones and ligaments.

In the non-fracture case, the patient was treated by repairing the ligaments between the lunate and scaphoid (SL ligament). Prior to suturing, the bone was aligned and fixed using a Kwire. The alignment of the bone and the K-wire was checked using a fluoroscope. A suture was then made through the bone to the SL ligament (transosseous suture) (Figure 3D). A transosseous suture technique was employed in cases where the ligament was avulsed from a bony origin. After repairing the SL ligament, the wound was closed by suturing the ligaments around the joint, extensor retinaculum, and skin using Nylon 3-0.

The surgical sequence in the case of fracture was the same as that in the case of non-fracture. When an open reduction was performed, the scaphoid bone was reduced and fixed using a headless compression screw (Figure 4A). For other fractured bones, the fixation was performed based

on the location and size of the bone, usually using K-wires. (Figure 4A, 4B) The mid-carpal joint was also stabilized using K-wires. The overall carpal alignment was checked using a fluoroscope prior to wound closure.

Postoperatively, a volar plaster slab was applied for approximately 12 weeks. By week 8, the K-wire was removed, and the volar plaster slab was retained until 12 weeks. Following splint removal, physiotherapists and occupational therapists provided advice on physical therapy. Patients were recommended to continue physical therapy at home for at least 6 months.



**Fig. 4** Headless screw with K-wire fixation in trans-scaphoid perilunate fracture dislocation (A) and K-wire fixation in perilunate dislocation (B).

#### RESULTS

Of the screened patients, from 2013 to 2021, 40 were diagnosed with PLD and perilunate fracture dislocation (PLFD). Notably, 13 patients had insufficient data, and 5 did not meet the research inclusion criteria. Therefore, 22 patients, including 20 males and 2 females, were finally enrolled in this study. The mean age of the patients was 30.5 (18–55) years. Of the total patients, 16 (72.7%), 3 (13.6%), 2 (9.1%), and 1 (4.6%) exhibited PLFD, PLD, volar lunate fracture dislocation (VLFD), and volar lunate dislocation (VLD), respectively. For the surgical methods, the patients were divided into two groups as follows: (i) 10 (45.5%) patients underwent dorsal SL ligament repair with K-wire fixation, and (ii) 12 (54.5%) patients underwent headless screw fixation of the scaphoid or K-wire fixation of other bones. The mean follow-up period was 15.3 (12-20) months, and the mean period from injury to surgery was 9.5 (3–28) days.

The mean range of motion flexion/extension (SD) was  $67.2^{\circ}$  ( $10.1^{\circ}$ )/ $70.1^{\circ}$  ( $8.8^{\circ}$ ). Ulna deviation/radial deviation (SD) was  $25.4^{\circ}$  ( $4.3^{\circ}$ )/  $13.8^{\circ}$  ( $4.1^{\circ}$ ). The pronation/supination (SD) was  $85.6^{\circ}$  ( $3.8^{\circ}$ )/ $88.3^{\circ}$  ( $2.9^{\circ}$ ) (Table 1). The mean grip strength of the treated side compared with that of the normal side was 80% (8.6). The mean modified Mayo wrist score was 73.6 (7.3). The final modified

### P. Muennoi et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 24-30

Mayo wrist scores were 4, poor; 11, fair; 6, good; and 1, excellent. The mean visual analog scale during ADL was 0.59 (0.66).

### Radiographic Outcomes

The mean SL angle was  $50.4^{\circ}$  (10.1°). The mean of the SL gap was 2.43 mm (0.66 mm). The

mean carpal height ratio was 0.50 (0.02). Notably, 18 (81.1%) and 4 (18.2%) patients exhibited congruent and incongruent Gilula's lines, respectively. In addition, 13 patients (59.1%) did not have joint arthrosis, whereas 9 had joint arthrosis, with 8 (36.3%) in mid-carpal and 1 (4.6%) in radiocarpal and mid-carpal (Table 2).

#### Table 1 Summary of Primary Outcomes.

Parameter	Wrist	(n=22)
	Mean	SD
Flexion/Extension (degrees)	67.2/76.2	10.1/8.8
Radial/Ulna deviation (degrees)	25.4/13.8	4.3/4.1
Pronation/Supination (degrees)	85.6 /88.3	3.8/2.9

### Table 2 Summary of Secondary Outcomes.

Parameter	Mean	SD
Grip strength (% of contralateral hand)	80	8.6
Modified Mayo wrist score (point)	73.6	22
Visual analog scale at rest/ADL (point)	0/0.59	0/0.66
SL angle (degrees)	50.40	10.1
SL gap (mm.)	2.43	0.66
Carpal height ratio	0.50	0.02
Gilula's line: Congruence/Incongruence (%)	81.8	/ 18.2
Arthrosis: none/OA (%)	50.1	/ 40.9

#### DISCUSSION

Injuries around the lunate bones, nonfracture (PLD or VLD) and with fracture (PLFD or VLFD), are caused by severe trauma mechanisms, resulting in injury to the bones, ligaments, and surrounding soft tissues<sup>(1,8,14)</sup> and treatment complications such as joint stiffness and bone misalignment.

Surgery is currently the standard treatment for these injuries to align the bones (fractured and non-fractured) and suture ligaments. However, discrepancies exist in the surgical methods reported in the literature. Notably, dorsal, volar, and combined dorsal and volar approaches are applied to such injuries. However, reports on treatment outcomes are ambiguous. Dean et al.<sup>(10)</sup> reported that, compared with the normal wrist, the flexion/extension range of motion of the wrist and mean grip strength were 7 1 % and 7 7 %, respectively, in 11 patients with PLD and PLDF who underwent the combined approach, with 1 patient with osteoarthritis. Forli et al.<sup>(7)</sup> reported treatment outcomes for 18 patients, including 11 and 7 patients with PLD and PLFD, respectively, of whom 11, 3, and 4 were treated using dorsal, volar, and combined approaches, respectively, with at least 10 years of follow-up. Notably, the mean Mayo wrist score was 76 (60–90), with five, three, seven and three patients with excellent, good, fair, and poor results, respectively. Further, 12 patients were diagnosed with osteoarthritis, and the authors

concluded that osteoarthritis could occur at longterm follow-up, but the patients tolerated such changes well. Kremer et al.<sup>(6)</sup> reported treatment outcomes in 39 patients, including 9 and 30 patients with PLD and PLFD, respectively, of whom 13, 6, and 20 were treated using dorsal, volar, and combined approaches, respectively, with a median follow-up period of 65.5 months. The mean flexion/extension arc was 77°, and the ulnar deviation/radial deviation was 42°. The mean visual analog scale at rest and during the activities were 1.8 and 4.8, respectively. Notably, 18 patients had a SL angle greater than the normal value, and 20 had osteoarthritis. Krief et al.<sup>(4)</sup> reported the treatment outcomes in 30 patients, including 14 and 16 with PLD and PLDF, respectively, of whom 2, 10, and 18 were treated using closed reduction with casting, closed reduction with percutaneous pinning, and dorsal and/or volar approaches, respectively, with at least 15 years of follow-up. Notably, the mean flexion/extension, radial-ulna abduction, and pronation-supination arcs were 68%, 67%, and 80%, respectively. The mean grip strength compared with the uninjured side was 70%. The mean Mayo wrist score was 70, and two patients with the lowest scores had osteoarthritis.

According to the severity of injury in patients with PLD and PLFD, which require surgical treatment, the combined dorsal and volar approach may cause additional soft tissue injury. Kevin et al.<sup>(11)</sup> reported flexion/extension arc and grip strength of 57% and 73% respectively, compared with the contralateral wrist, at an average follow-up period of 37 months in 22 patients (23 wrists) who underwent a combined approach., three patients required wrist arthrodesis, four required an immediate scaphoid excision and 4-corner arthrodesis, and one required proximal row carpectomy. Consequently, a greater risk of complications exists after surgery using the combined approach than using a one-sided incision. The volar approach is used less commonly than the dorsal approach. Our study results for the primary outcomes demonstrated that the mean range of motion of flexion/extension, ulnar deviation/radial deviation, and pronation/supination were 67.2°/76.2°, 25.4°/13.8°, and 85.6°/88.3°,

respectively. Notably, these values are close to those of Dean et al.<sup>(10)</sup>, and they are greater than those of Kremer et al.<sup>(6)</sup> As the secondary outcomes, the mean grip strength, modified Mayo wrist score, and visual analog scale during ADL were 80%, 73.6, and 0.59, respectively. Our grip strength and modified Mayo wrist score results were comparable to those of other reports. The visual analog scale score in our study was better than that of Kremer et al.<sup>(6)</sup> However, our follow-up period was shorter, which precluded the comparison.

For radiographic outcomes, the mean SL angle, SL gap, and carpal height ratio were 50.4°, 2.43 mm, and 0.5, respectively. These values were close to normal values (SL angle 30–60°, SL gap  $\leq 2$  mm, carpal height ratio of 0.54 ± 0.03)<sup>(1)</sup>. Four (18.2%) patients had a non-parallel Gilula's line, and nine (40.9%) had osteoarthritis, which was less than that reported by Forli et al.<sup>(7)</sup> and Kremer T et al.<sup>(6)</sup>. However, the follow-up period in our study was shorter than others. Therefore, it may not be possible to definitively conclude that the dorsal approach decreases the occurrence of osteoarthritis.

Our study has a few limitations. First, this was a retrospective study, and some patients could not be included in the analysis because of insufficient data. Second, we did not separate patients with and without fractures in the data analysis, which may have influenced some of the data, such as the fixation of a headless screw for the scaphoid bone, resulting in bone shortening due to the compression effect.

### CONCLUSIONS

The results of the surgical treatment for patients with PLD and PLFD using open reduction and internal fixation via the dorsal approach with a minimal 1-year follow-up were satisfactory. Although some patients develop osteoarthritis postoperatively, radiographic evidence did not correlate with the patients' clinical symptoms. Therefore, we recommend the dorsal approach as a well-accepted treatment option for patients with PLD or PLFD. However, further studies are warranted to compare the results of previous studies with respect to clinical and radiographic outcomes.

#### P. Muennoi et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 24-30

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Gracia-Elias M. Carpal instability. Green's operative hand surgery. 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Elsevier; 2010.
- Kara A, Celik H, Seker A, et al. Surgical treatment of dorsal perilunate fracturedislocations and prognostic factors. Int J Surg 2015;24:57-63.
- 3. Gupta RK, Kamboj K. Functional outcome after surgical treatment of perilunate injuries: A series of 12 cases. J Clin Orthop Trauma 2016; 7:7-11.
- Krief E, Appy-Fedida B, Rotari V, et al. Results of perilunate dislocations and perilunate fracture dislocations with a minimum 15-year follow-up. J Hand Surg Am 2015;40:2191-7.
- Chou YC, Hsu YH, Cheng CY, et al. Percutaneous screw and axial Kirschner wire fixation for acute transscaphoid perilunate fracture dislocation. J Hand Surg Am 2012;37: 715-20.
- Kremer T, Wendt M, Riedel K, et al. Open reduction for perilunate injuries--clinical outcome and patient satisfaction. J Hand Surg Am 2010;35:1599-606.
- Forli A, Courvoisier A, Wimsey S, et al. Perilunate dislocations and transscaphoid perilunate fracture-dislocations: a retrospective study with minimum ten-year follow-up. J Hand Surg Am 2010;35:62-8.
- Budoff JE. Treatment of acute lunate and perilunate dislocations. J Hand Surg Am 2008; 33:1424-32.

- Souer JS, Rutgers M, Andermahr J, et al. Perilunate fracture-dislocations of the wrist: comparison of temporary screw versus K-wire fixation. J Hand Surg Am 2007;32:318-25.
- 10. Sotereanos DG, Mitsionis GJ, Giannakopoulos PN, et al. Perilunate dislocation and fracture dislocation: a critical analysis of the volar-dorsal approach. J Hand Surg Am 1997;22:49-56.
- Hildebrand KA, Ross DC, Patterson SD, et al. Dorsal perilunate dislocations and fracturedislocations: questionnaire, clinical, and radiographic evaluation. J Hand Surg Am 2000; 25:1069-79.
- 12. Knoll VD, Allan C, Trumble TE. Trans-scaphoid perilunate fracture dislocations: results of screw fixation of the scaphoid and lunotriquetral repair with a dorsal approach. J Hand Surg Am 2005;30:1145-52.
- Pinho AB, Sobania RL. Perilunate carpal dislocation. Clinical evaluation of patients operated with reduction and percutaneous fixation without capsular-ligament repair. Rev Bras Ortop 2017;52:402-9.
- 14. Wolfe SW, Kakar S. Carpal instability. Green's operative hand surgery. 8<sup>th</sup> ed. Elsevier; 2021.
- 15. Abid H, Shimi M, El ibrahimi A, et al. Result of the Sauve-Kapandji procedure for posttraumatic disorder of the distal radioulnar joint in young patients. Open J Orthop 2015;5:35-40

Case Report • Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 31-35



# Irreducible Fracture Dislocation of the Elbow Due to Medial Epicondyle Entrapment Associated with Median Nerve Palsy in Adult: A Case Report

# Navapong Anantavorasakul, MD, Piyabuth Kittithamvongs, MD, Sopinun Siripoonyothai, MD, Science Metadilogkul, MD, Naputt Virasathienpornkul, MD

Institute of Orthopaedics, Lerdsin General Hospital, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, College of Medicine, Rangsit University, Bangkok, Thailand

**Purpose:** Medial epicondyle fractures are common elbow injuries in pediatric and adolescent population. However, this condition is extremely rare in adults, with only a few cases reported in the literatures. This report presents the case of an adult patient with an irreducible fracture dislocation of the elbow due to intra-articular entrapment of the medial epicondyle associated with median nerve palsy.

**Methods:** A case of 36-year-old man presented with posterolateral fracture dislocation of the left elbow with displaced medial epicondyle and median nerve palsy. Closed reduction was attempted, resulting in a grossly unstable elbow. Post-reduction radiographic study demonstrated the articular incongruence with the entrapped medial epicondyle. The patient underwent an open reduction and median nerve exploration. A fragment of the medial epicondyle was found comminuted and repaired using our novel technique with suture anchors. The lateral ulnar collateral ligament was repaired because of varus residual instability. The dislocated elbow was successfully reduced.

**Results:** At 6 months follow-up, the elbow was stable with nearly full range of motion, although radiographic studies demonstrated union fractures with partially fragment resorption. Both sensation and motor function of the median nerve were gradually recovered.

**Conclusions:** We presented a novel fixation technique for a rare case of irreducible fracture dislocation of the elbow due to intra-articular entrapment of the medial epicondyle associated with median nerve palsy in adults. The median nerve should be explored in every case, and delayed diagnosis should be avoided, which may lead to devastating complications.

**Keywords:** irreducible elbow fracture dislocation, entrapment, incarcerated, medial epicondyle, median nerve palsy

Article history:

Received: December 26, 2023 Revised: February 22, 2024 Accepted: March 12, 2024 Correspondence to: Naputt Virasathienpornkul, MD Institute of Orthopaedics, Lerdsin General Hospital, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, College of Medicine, Rangsit University, Bangkok, Thailand E-mail: naputt.lerdsin@gmail.com Medial epicondyle fractures are common elbow injuries in the pediatric and adolescent populations. Most injuries occurred in boys, commonly between the ages of 9 and 14 years. They account for up to 20% of all elbow fractures in pediatric patients and 60% of which are associated with elbow dislocation<sup>(1)</sup>. In addition, the entrapment of medial epicondyle may occur after closed reduction, which usually requires surgical intervention.

However, this phenomenon is rare in adults. There are only a few reported cases of entrapped medial epicondyles after closed reduction of the elbow in literature<sup>(2-4)</sup>. To the best of our knowledge, there has been no previous report of an incarcerated medial epicondyle associated with median nerve injury.

We present a case of irreducible fracture dislocation of the elbow due to intra-articular entrapment of the medial epicondyle associated with median nerve palsy.

# **CASE REPORT**

A 36-year-old man presented with left elbow after slipping and falling from an outstretched hand. Physical examination in the emergency department revealed a swelling and deformity of the left elbow. There was a decrease in light-touch sensation in the area innervated by the median nerve, and paralysis of the flexor pollicis longus (FPL) and flexor digitorum profundus (FDP) of the index finger. The patient could perform palmar abduction of the thumb and fingers abduction and adduction without any weakness. Radiographic studies showed posterolateral fracture-dislocation of the elbow with a displaced medial epicondyle. A closed reduction was attempted under intravenous sedation, which resulted in a grossly unstable elbow. Post-reduction radiographic study demonstrated the articular incongruence with the entrapped medial epicondyle (Fig. 1). Computed tomography revealed comminution of the medial epicondyle fragment, a non-displaced radial head fracture, and avulsion of the lateral collateral ligament from the distal humerus (Fig. 2). To reduce the dislocated elbow, stabilize the fracture, and explore the median nerve, surgery was performed 4 days after the injury owing to limitations of the operating room.

After brachial plexus block, a curved incision was made along the medial aspect of the elbow. After carefully dissection, the flexorpronator muscles were stripped from the medial ridge of the distal humerus, and the intact median nerve was identified with contusion along the nerve. Th ulnar nerve was identified proximally posterior to the intermuscular septum and released from the surrounding tissue along its course. The medial epicondyle was entrapped within the ulnohumeral joint, and the anterior bundle of medial collateral ligament (AMCL) was attached to the fragment. The fragment was meticulously removed from the joint.



**Fig. 1** Pre-reduction (A,B) and post-reduction (C,D) plain radiographs in AP and lateral views. Incarcerated comminuted medial epicondyle fragment is labelled with yellow arrows.



**Fig. 2** Computed tomography of left elbow after closed reduction demonstrates incarcerated comminuted medial epicondyle fragment.

To stabilize the elbow, the medial epicondylar fragment with the attached AMCL was repaired. We applied a 3.5 mm metal suture anchor (PARCUS, USA) to the most distal fracture site of the distal humerus, passed the suture ends through the origin of the AMCL and grasped the collateral ligament using a Krackow stitch. The knot was secured after elbow was placed in flexion with varus force and the forearm was placed in the supinate position to achieve the proper tension of

#### N. Anantavorasakul et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 31-35

the AMCL. Because the medial condyle was comminuted, we decided to use suture anchor fixation instead of screw fixation to avoid further fracture. We applied another 3.5 mm metal suture anchor to the most proximal fracture site of the distal humerus, separated the two sutures to cover the anterior and posterior halves of the fragment, and tied the sutures with the other ends of the suture from the first suture anchor in a V-shaped configuration. Using this technique, we achieved a stable fixation of the comminuted medial epicondylar fragment (Fig. 3). The flexor-pronator muscles were repaired back to the humerus using vicryl 2-0. The ulnar nerve was left in place without transposition as it had no subluxation with elbow motion.



**Fig. 3** Diagram of fixation technique. A and B = The fracture site of distal humerus (grey), lateral and AP views; C = Two anchor sutures are fixed to the most proximal and distal of the fracture site; D = The anterior bundle of the medial collateral ligament is grasped by the suture from the distal anchor using Krackow stitch, and both end are brought over the medial epicondyle fragment (yellow); E and F = Two sutures from proximal anchor are separated to cover the anterior and posterior halves of the fragment and tied over the fragment with the suture from the distal anchor, lateral and AP views.

After repairing all structures at the medial site, stability was evaluated using fluoroscopic assessment, and residual instability with varus force was confirmed. With another surgical approach on the lateral side of the elbow, the lateral ulnar collateral ligament was repaired back to its origin using a 2.5 mm metal suture anchor (PARCUS, USA). Both the surgical wounds were closed. The long-arm slab was placed in the neutral position. The elbow was immobilized in 90° flexion for 2 weeks to minimize swelling, and range of motion exercises were initiated.



**Fig. 4** Postoperative radiographs of the left elbow 6 months after surgery.



**Fig. 5** Range of motion of the elbow at 6 months after surgery.

At 6 months follow-up, radiographic studies revealed union fractures with partial fragment resorption (Fig. 4). However, the elbow was stable with a nearly full range of motion. Both the sensation and motor function of the median
nerve partially recovered. The 2-point discrimination was 4 mm for the thumb, index, and middle fingers. The motor power of the FPL and FDP of the index finger was grade 4 on the Medical Research Council scale. The range of motion was 10-130° flexion with full rotation (Fig. 5).

### DISCUSSION

In the pediatric population, medial epicondyle fracture is the most common fracture associated with elbow dislocation because it is the last ossification center that fuses in the distal humerus, typically between the age of 15-20 years<sup>(5)</sup>. In addition, the incidence of fragment incarcerated in the ulnohumeral joint after reduction is between 15% and 25% and the most common associated nerve injury is the ulnar nerve, given its location directly posterior to the medial epicondyle<sup>(1)</sup>.

However, complex injuries are extremely rare in adults. There were only five reported cases of intra-articular entrapment of the medial epicondyle after reduction of the dislocated elbow of which only one case was associated with ulnar nerve injury<sup>(2-4)</sup>. Our presented case is believed to be the first reported case of incarcerated medial epicondyle associated with median nerve injury in an adult.

While the ulnar nerve is the most common nerve injury associated with elbow dislocation, the entrapment of the median nerve concomitant with elbow dislocation is a rare complication that commonly delays diagnosid<sup>(6,7)</sup>. In cases of median nerve palsy associated with elbow dislocation, we strongly recommend median nerve exploration to ensure no entrapment of the nerve.

The indications for surgical intervention for medial epicondylar fractures are inconclusive. Absolute indications included open fractures and fragments incarcerated in the joints. Several fixation techniques have been described, including Kirschner wire (K-wire) fixation, screw fixation, suture fixation, excision of the fragment, and repair of the soft tissue to the medial elbow<sup>(1)</sup>. Although there is no consensus for any technique over the others, K-wire fixation is mostly chosen in pediatric patients with small medial epicondyle fragments, while screw fixation is preferred in larger fragments<sup>(1,5,8,9)</sup>. However, in cases with comminuted medial epicondyle fragments, these techniques may not achieve stable fixation and might result in more comminuted fractures. In such situations, suture fixation can provide stable fixation without complication<sup>(10)</sup>.

In our case, we presented a novel technique for fixation of the comminuted medial epicondyle and achieved good tension in AMCL repair using two suture anchors. Short-term follow-up confirmed a stable elbow with union of the medial epicondyle. The median nerve palsy was gradually recovered.

### **CONCLUSIONS**

In conclusion, we presented a rare case of irreducible fracture-dislocation of the elbow due to intra-articular entrapment of the medial epicondyle associated with median nerve palsy in an adult. Our novel fixation technique using anchor sutures may be an alternative treatment method in patients with comminuted medial epicondylar fragments. Median nerve palsy after elbow dislocation is a devastating complication that should not be delayed and should be investigated in every cases.

### REFERENCES

- Gottschalk HP, Eisner E, Hosalkar HS. Medial epicondyle fractures in the pediatric population. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2012;20:223-32.
- 2. Abdel Nour HG, El Rassi GS, Daoud JC, et al. Intra-articular entrapment of the medial epicondyle following a traumatic fracture dislocation of the elbow in an adult. Case Rep Orthop 2018;2018:1-6.
- 3. Khan SA, Zahid M. Dislocation of the elbow with intra-articular entrapment of the medial epicondyle in adults. Report of two cases. Acta Orthop Belg 2002;6883-6.
- Purser DW. Dislocation of the elbow and inclusion of the medial epicondyle in the adult. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1954;36-B:247-9.
- Dodds SD, Flanagin BA, Bohl DD, et al. Incarcerated medial epicondyle fracture following pediatric elbow dislocation: 11 cases. J Hand Surg Am 2014;39:1739-45.

N. Anantavorasakul et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 31-35

- 6. Dubey V, Saify A, Samant A, et al. Median nerve entrapment after elbow dislocation and the role of ultrasonography - A case report. J Orthop Case Rep 2017;7:21-4.
- Hallett J. Entrapment of the median nerve after dislocation of the elbow. A case report. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1981;63-B:408-12.
- Louahem DM, Bourelle S, Buscayret F, et al. Displaced medial epicondyle fractures of the humerus: surgical treatment and results. A report of 139 cases. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2010;130:649-55.
- Pace GI, Hennrikus WL. Fixation of displaced medial epicondyle fractures in adolescents. J Pediatr Orthop 2017;37:e80-2.
- 10. Rickert KD, Sarrel KL, Sanders JS, et al. Medial epicondyle fractures: Biomechanical evaluation and clinical comparison of 3 fixation methods used in pediatric patients: Biomechanical evaluation and clinical comparison of 3 fixation methods used in pediatric patients. J Pediatr Orthop 2020;40:474-80.



## Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics ISSN 2821-9848 (Print) ISSN 2821-9864 (Online) https://doi.org/10.56929/jseaortho-2024-0208 https://jseaortho.org

# Pediatric Olecranon Fracture with Coronoid Process Osteochondral Flap Fracture: A Rare and Challenging Case

Chong Jung Syn, MBBS, Aziah Abdul Aziz, MS, Shashank Raghunandanan, MS, Nur Azuatul Akmal Kamaludin, MS, Nur Syahida Mohd Termizi, MS

Orthopaedic Department, Hospital Tengku Ampuan Afzan, Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia

**Purpose:** Osteochondral flap fracture is a variant of fracture in the pediatric age group. It is caused by a shearing force that separates the articular cartilage from the underlying subchondral bone. We present a pediatric case of an olecranon process fracture with an osteochondral flap fracture of the coronoid process.

**Case report:** A 10-year-old child presented with swelling and pain in the right elbow after an incident of direct trauma. A plain radiograph revealed multiple small fracture fragments, inconclusive of coronoid process involvement. Intraoperatively, we found an osteochondral fracture of the coronoid process with anteromedial facet displacement. The fracture was reduced and secured with two K-wires. The undisplaced olecranon fracture was fixed with a K-wire in situ.

**Conclusions:** Osteochondral flap fractures of the coronoid process can be easily missed and underestimated in imaging studies. Neglected fractures can lead to severe impairment of elbow motion and function and cause chronic pain. The anatomical reduction of the coronoid facet is crucial and yields the best outcome.

Keywords: Osteochondral flap fracture, coronoid osteochondral flap, pediatric coronoid process fracture

Pediatric osteochondral flap fractures are rare<sup>(1)</sup>. Unlike adults, children have thicker cartilage on bone surfaces, making radiographic findings less definitive and leading to diagnostic difficulties. A missed diagnosis can lead to limitations in the range of motion, elbow instability, and, eventually, osteoarthritis, affecting hand function and quality of life<sup>(2,3)</sup>. We report a case of pediatric coronoid

Article history: Received: November 20, 2023 Revised: May 23, 2024 Accepted: June 7, 2024 Correspondence to: Chong Jung Syn, MBBS Orthopaedic Department, Hospital Tengku Ampuan Afzan, Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia E-mail: edboy619@yahoo.com process osteochondral flap fracture with a concomitant olecranon process fracture.

### **CASE REPORT**

A 10-year-old boy presented with right elbow pain and swelling after falling on a flexed elbow. He did not recall experiencing any dislocation or hearing popping sounds. Examination revealed non-specific tenderness and a limited range of motion due to pain. A plain radiograph showed an olecranon process fracture with bone chips of unknown origin at the medial and lateral aspects and a larger bone fragment at the anterior part of the elbow (Figure 1A). The provisional diagnosis was a closed fracture of the trochlea and olecranon process. A long arm posterior slab was applied, and he was admitted for surgery the following day.

Under general anesthesia, right elbow range of motion assessment revealed a restriction extension of 30-100° of maximum flexion. Preoperative examination showed a positive anterior drawer at 90° flexion. However, posterior subluxation and varus and valgus laxity could not be achieved. A tourniquet and sterile draping were applied. The arthrogram was inconclusive of the any trochlear or coronoid fracture. We percutaneously fixed the undisplaced olecranon process fracture with a 1.8-mm K-wire. A curvilinear incision was made at the medial elbow, slightly anterior to the medial epicondyle. A surgical plane was developed between the pronator teres and flexor carpi radialis to expose the anteromedial joint capsule. The capsule was opened, and joint washout was performed to remove the hematoma inside. We noted the fracture at the anteromedial facet of the coronoid process, along with its osteochondral fragment that was displaced anteriorly and superiorly (Figure 1B). We reduced the fracture and secured it with two 0.9-mm K-wires using the retrograde technique (Figure 2A). The trochlear, radial head, and capitulum articular surfaces and the medial collateral ligament were intact. The capsule was closed and the skin, sutured. A long arm posterior slab was applied. The diagnosis was revised to a closed fracture of the anteromedial facet of the coronoid process and a closed undisplaced fracture at the olecranon process of the right proximal ulna.

The child was discharged the next day with advice for pain-site dressing once every three days. At three weeks post-operation, the long arm slab and K-wires were removed, and elbow range of motion exercise was initiated. Six weeks after surgery, the child returned to school with nearly restored elbow motion, except for a slight residual extension lag of less than 10°. There was no laxity observed with the varus and valgus stress test. A radiograph showed the united fracture of coronoid and olecranon processes (Figure 2B). A six-month follow-up was given to monitor for any growth disturbances of the right elbow.



**Fig. 1A** Radiographs of right elbow. The blue arrow points to the osseous part of the displaced coronoid osteochondral flap fracture, which was initially thought to have originated from the humeral trochlear. **1B** Intraoperative image shows an anteromedial osteochondral flap fracture of the coronoid process (blue arrow) and intact lateral basal facet of the coronoid process (yellow arrow) and the trochlea (white arrow).



**Fig. 2A** Postoperative radiographs of the right elbow. **2B** Six-week follow-up radiographs.

### DISCUSSION

Osteochondral flap fractures of the coronoid process in the pediatric age group are rare; to date, only a few cases have been reported<sup>(2-4)</sup>. Unlike adult hyaline cartilage, which comprises calcified and non-calcified layers, children's cartilage lacks calcification. Consequently, force is directly transmitted to the subchondral bone, causing osteochondral lesions instead of pure chondral injury, which is more common in adults<sup>(5)</sup>. Two injury mechanisms occur: first, during elbow dislocation reduction, the trochlea collides with the coronoid process, shearing off the osteochondral flap into the ulno-humeral joint. Second, falling with an outstretched hand and extended elbow causes the coronoid process to impinge on the trochlea, resulting in a fracture<sup>(2)</sup>. Osteochondral flap fractures can be classified into tip, anteromedial facet, and basal type fractures, further subdivided according to severity and associated fractures<sup>(6)</sup>. Posterolateral elbow dislocation involves a coronoid tip avulsion associated with a proximal radius fracture, while posteromedial dislocation is characterized by anteromedial facet fractures and collateral ligament complex injury<sup>(2)</sup>. Anteromedial facet fractures are important because they are associated with posteromedial rotatory and varus instability, requiring vigilant and aggressive management<sup>(6)</sup>. Reported injuries associated with a coronoid process osteochondral flap fracture include elbow dislocation, humeral lateral condyle fracture, ulnar collateral ligament injury, neck of radius fracture, and olecranon process fracture<sup>(1-4)</sup>. Coronoid process osteochondral flap fracture with a concomitant olecranon process fracture has been described in younger children below 5-7 years of age, while our patient was 10 years old<sup>(2,4,7)</sup>. We hypothesized that our patient presented after a spontaneously relocated elbow, similar to the case reported by Valisena et al.<sup>(2)</sup>

The diagnosis of coronoid process osteochondral flap fractures is a formidable challenge. Children have difficulty explaining the exact mechanism of their injury. Moreover, physical examination typically reveals nonspecific tenderness and limited range of motion due to pain from intra-articular fragment impingement. The small size and radiolucency of the fragment often lead to missed diagnosis on plain radiographs<sup>(1,3)</sup>. A subtle increase in ulno-humeral joint space may be observed<sup>(4,6)</sup>. Differential diagnoses include medial epicondyle, trochlear, olecranon, and radial head fractures. An early and accurate diagnosis is the cornerstone in treating osteochondral flap fractures. Therefore, due to the non-specific presentation and radiograph findings, we suggest proceeding further with computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in suspected cases. CT helps in delineating fracture configuration but requires vigilant observation to detect the osteochondral fragment<sup>(1,2)</sup>. MRI offers greater accuracy but is limited by its cost, availability, and the need for sedation in uncooperative children. Intraoperative arthrogram is another diagnostic option but may be challenging to interpret for inexperienced individuals. Open diagnostic exploration is the most specific method

but is typically reserved for patients with additional injuries that require surgery.

It is pertinent to examine the integrity of collateral ligament complexes in all cases of coronoid fractures. However, stability assessment in children is difficult due to patient uncooperativeness and can, therefore, be performed under sedation or anesthesia. The medial ligamentous complex is assessed by applying valgus force with forearm supination at 30° of elbow flexion<sup>(8)</sup>. Meanwhile, varus instability can occur in lateral ligament complex injuries with fracture of the coronoid, causing loss of the medial buttress. It is tested by applying varus stress with forearm pronation at about 30° of elbow flexion<sup>(9)</sup>. Younger children have more laxity in their ligaments and yield a false positive unless compared to the normal side. Surgery is the mainstay of treatment for displaced osteochondral flap fractures as fracture reduction is crucial for the restoration of articular congruency and elbow stability. The medial approach to the coronoid process is advantageous as it allows direct access to the fracture site and medial ligamentous complex<sup>(4)</sup>. The method of fixation varies among cases. Fragments larger than 5 mm should be fixed with K-wires, while smaller fragments can be fixed with absorbable sutures or fibrin glue<sup>(2,5)</sup>. Elbow stability should be reassessed after fixation, possibly aided by observing joint space widening on the C-arm Image Intensifier. The passive range of motion in flexion-extension and supination-pronation should also be documented. In some cases, if stability is achieved post-reduction or the fragment is insignificant, fixation may not be necessary, and excision can be considered<sup>(2)</sup>.

### **CONCLUSIONS**

Coronoid process osteochondral flap fractures are challenging to diagnose and are often overlooked, especially when accompanied by other elbow fractures such as that of the olecranon process. Neglected fractures can result in the significant impairment of elbow function and in chronic pain. Imaging studies may underestimate the injury; therefore, careful clinical suspicion with surgical exploration is the most reliable diagnostic method. The assessment of elbow stability is neces-

### C. Jung Syn et al. / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 36-39

sary to identify any accompanying ligamentous injuries. Anatomical reduction of the coronoid facet is essential for optimal outcomes.

### **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

### REFERENCES

- Wang J, Wang Z. Osteochondral flap fracture of the coronoid in pediatric humeral lateral condyle: A report of 3 cases. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019;98:e15915.
- Valisena S, Hamitaga F, Gonzalez JG, et al. Osteochondral flap fracture of the coronoid in pediatric elbow dislocation: a case report and literature review. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2019;29:213-20.
- 3. Arnold RM, Fehringer EV. Displaced basal coronoid fracture and fixation in a 7 year old: A case report and review of the literature. Shoulder Elbow 2009;1:104-7.
- Kim DC, Cutchen W, Teachey W, et al. Pediatric olecranon osteochondral flap Fractures with subtle radiographic abnormality. J Hand Surg Am 2021;46:155.e1-8.
- Salzmann GM, Niemeyer P, Hochrein A, et al. Articular cartilage repair of the knee in children and adolescents. Orthop J Sports Med 2018;6:2325967118760190.
- 6. O'Driscoll SW, Jupiter JB, Cohen MS, et al. Difficult elbow fractures: pearls and pitfalls. Instr Course Lect 2003:52:113-34.
- Yamaura K, Inui A, Mifune Y, et al. Anterior transolecranon fracture dislocation with an associated avulsion fracture of coronoid process of ulna in a child: a case report. JSES Int 2020;5:9-12.
- Varacallo M, Mody KS, Parikh D, et al. Physical examination of the pediatric elbow. In: Abzug J, Herman M, Kozin S, editors. Pediatric elbow fractures: a clinical guide to management. Springer; 2018. p.13-21.

 Karbach LE, Elfar J. Elbow instability: anatomy, biomechanics, diagnostic maneuvers, and testing. J Hand Surg Am 2017;42:118-26. Case Report and Literature Review • Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 40-43



# Osteochondroma at the Ventro-Medial Surface of the Scapula Causing Pseudo Winging Scapular Resection with Computer-Assisted Navigation: A Case Report and Literature Review

### Teerapat Nakornnoi, MD

Department of Orthopedics, Maharat Nakhon Ratchasima Hospital, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand

**Purpose:** Osteochondromas, the most common benign bone tumors, primarily occur in the long bones, with scapular osteochondromas constituting less than 1% of cases. A unique challenge in ventral scapular osteochondromas is limited visibility from the dorsal side. Computer-assisted surgery, which is widely employed in tumor surgery is a promising solution for minimally invasive resection with reduced muscle injury.

**Methods:** We present the case of a thirteen-year-old female with a ventral scapular osteochondroma that cause winging and snaping of her left arm. The patient underwent computer-assisted surgery under general anesthesia in the prone position. The procedure involved a minimal incision over the crest of the scapular spine, enabling precise identification of the tumor from the dorsal side using navigation tools.

**Results:** The tumor, identified as an osteochondroma on CT scans, was successfully resected with minimal soft tissue damage. Postoperatively, the patient's arm was immobilized for two weeks, followed by a pain-free return to normal activity. Radiographic evaluation confirmed complete tumor removal.

**Conclusions:** Computer-assisted navigation can help locate the ventral osteochondroma of the scapula with minimal soft tissue damage and a quicker recovery time.

Keywords: osteochondroma, scapular tumor, computer navigated axis surgery

Osteochondromas are the most common benign bone tumors that are composed of medullary and cartilaginous bone covered by a cap of hyaline cartilage<sup>(1)</sup>. They are primarily found in long bones and increase in size with skeletal growth

Article history:

Received: December 12, 2023 Revised: May 1, 2024 Accepted: June 21, 2024 Correspondence to: Teerapat Nakornnoi, MD Department of Orthopedics, Maharat Nakhon Ratchasima Hospital, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand E-mail: Arachi089@gmail.com until skeletal maturity<sup>(2)</sup>. Scapular osteochondromas are rare, accounting for less than 1% of all osteochondromas<sup>(3-4)</sup>. However, they are the most common type of scapular tumors<sup>(5)</sup>.

Currently, computer-assistance is widely used in tumor surgery, particularly for pelvic and sacral tumors. MIS resection of benign bone tumors is an indication for this technique<sup>(6)</sup>. In the past, several techniques have been used for resecting osteochondromas, including open resection with a triangle of auscultation approach<sup>(7)</sup> 3D models printed from DICOM files to help in surgery planning<sup>(8)</sup>, minimally invasive techniques<sup>(9)</sup>, and arthroscopic techniques<sup>(3)</sup>. However, the problem with ventral osteochondroma of the scapula is that it cannot be seen from the dorsal site. Therefore, we decided that computer-assisted surgery would be beneficial in this case to perform resection with minimal invasiveness and muscle injury.

### **CASE REPORT**

A thirteen-year-old, right hand dominant girl presented to our orthopedic clinic with snapping on motion of her left arm for 9 months. Her left scapula had moved significantly anterolateral to the thoracic cage and slightly superior to the right side.

An anteroposterior view of the left shoulder joint with abnormal calcification at the medial border of the left scapula and a standard Y-view of the scapula clearly demonstrated that the tumor arose from the ventral aspect of the inferomedial border of the scapula.

CT reveled extension of the tumor over the ventral surface of the left scapula and lateral pushing of the left scapula, casing scapular winging.



**Fig. 1** Plain radiography anterioposterior view and standard Y-view of the scapula.



**Fig. 2** CT scan showing osteochondroma arising from the left scapula.

The procedure was performed under general anesthesia, with the patient in the prone

position. Her left shoulder was free and the scapula could move over the thoracic cage. A small incision was made over the crest of the scapula spine near the posterior part of the acromion. Five centimeters incision was made at the inferior pole of the scapula. We used 3-point acquisition at the medial border of the scapula and surface registration (Calibration using multiple points on the scapula).



**Fig. 3** Three-point registration at the medial border of the left scapula.



Fig. 4 Osteochondroma after resection.

After registration, a navigated probe can be used to identify tumors from the dorsal side. We used a Misonix Bone ScalPel blade to cut the bone and detach the inferior scapular and rhomboid muscles from the medial border of the tumor. After tumor removal, the muscle was reattached to the lower pole of the scapula, a drain was inserted, and the skin was closed. The resected tumor is shown in the Fig 4. The intraoperative duration spanned 1 h 30 min, with a blood loss of 50 mL.

Macroscopically, a pearly white hard mass extending from the scapula was observed, and the pathological report indicated that it was an osteochondroma. Her arm was immobilized in an arm sling for 2 weeks, after which she could move her arm freely without pain. Plain radiography showed that the tumor was completely removed.



**Fig. 5** Post-operative plain radiography showing complete resection.

### DISCUSSION

Osteochondromas are the most common benign bone tumors, accounting for 15% of all bone tumors<sup>(5)</sup>. However, ventral osteochondromas of winging scapula are rare. A asymptomatic patients without pain or snaping can undergo nonoperative treatment and follow-up measurements<sup>(10)</sup>. However, in the cases that lead to limitations in sports activities or impact the quality of life, surgical resection remains the treatment of choice.

In 2011, Pérez D et. al. used endoscopic guidance to resect a superomedial osteochondroma of the scapula. Minimally invasive resection of scapular osteochondromas has been proposed as an alternative to open surgery for early functional recovery<sup>(9)</sup>. In 2012, Tam MD et. al. used 3D printed model from a DICOM file for surgical planning in large scapular osteochondromas and tumor location during surgery<sup>(7)</sup>. In 2019, Sage et.al. reported case series of ventral scapular resected muscle spearing techniques with "triangular of auscultation" approach<sup>(11)</sup>.

However, open resection from the medial or lateral border remained the standard approach in this case<sup>(12-20)</sup>. Ventral osteochondromas cannot be seen from the dorsal side and more associated muscles that attach to the scapula need to be resected, especially in large osteochondromas. Therefore, we propose a new technique that uses computer-assisted navigation to resect tumors. The scapula can glide over the rib cage, and the incision can be optimizied and resection can be performed with minimal muscle trauma. Although this may result in an increase in operative time, blood loss is slightly reduced. In this case, The patient returned to daily activities within 2 weeks of resection. Plain radiography and CT showed complete resection of the osteochondroma.

Computer-assistance is widely used in tumor surgery, particularly for pelvic and sacral tumors. This technique has the benefits of precise dissection, minimal damage to soft tissue, minimal invasiveness and a smaller incision, resulting in reduced post-operative pain, shorter hospital stays and less recovery time.

### CONCLUSIONS

Here, we report the case of a 13-year-old girl with ventral scapular osteochondroma, highlighting the efficacy of computer-assisted navigation. This innovative technique allows complete tumor resection, minimizes soft tissue damage, and reduces recovery time. As technology continues to advance, tumor resection using computer-assisted navigation is likely to become the gold standard for surgical management.

### REFERENCES

- Alabdullrahman LW, Mabrouk A, Byerly DW. Osteochondroma. In: StatPearls (Internet). Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing.
- 2. Kwon OS, Kelly JIV. Delayed presentation of osteochondroma on the ventral surface of the scapula. Int J Shoulder Surg 2012;6:61-3.
- Aalderink K, Wolf B. Scapular osteochondroma treated with arthroscopic excision using prone positioning. Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ) 2010;39:E11-4.
- Nascimento AT do, Claudio GK. Snapping scapula. Arthroscopic resection of osteochondroma of the subscapularis superomedial angle. Case report and literature review. Rev Bras Ortop 2017;52:220-3.

### T. Nakornnoi / Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics Vol 48 No 2 (2024) 40-43

- Pongkripetch M, Sirikulchayanonta V. Analysis of bone tumors in Ramathibodi Hospital, Thailand during 1977-1986: study of 652 cases. J Med Assoc Thai 1989;72:621-8.
- Wong KC. A practical guide to computer assisted tumor surgery: CATS. Red Corporation Limited; 2010.
- Prakash S, Kalra P, Khan Y, Dhal A. Ventral scapular osteochondroma excision through 'triangle of auscultation': A case series. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong) 2020;28: 2309499019892848.
- Tam MD, Laycock SD, Bell D, et al. 3-D printout of a DICOM file to aid surgical planning in a 6 year old patient with a large scapular osteochondroma complicating congenital diaphyseal aclasia. J Radiol Case Rep 2012;6:31-7.
- Pérez D, Ramón Cano J, Caballero J, et al. Minimally-invasive resection of a scapular osteochondroma. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2011;13:468-70.
- Lazar MA, Kwon YW, Rokito AS. Snapping scapula syndrome. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009;91:2251-62.
- 11. Alshayhan FA, Alahaidib A, Alsowaigh M, et al. Bilateral scapular osteochondroma in Multiple Hereditary Exostosis patient presented with bilateral shoulder pain treated with arthroscopic and open excision: Case report. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2021:67:102481.
- 12. Orth P, Anagnostakos K, Fritsch E, et al. Static winging of the scapula caused by osteochondroma in adults: a case series. J Med Case Rep 2012:6:363.

- 13. Chillemi C, Franceschini V, Ippolito G, et al. Osteochondroma as a cause of scapular winging in an adolescent: a case report and review of the literature. J Med Case Rep 2013;7:220.
- 14. Sivananda P, RaO BK, Kumar PV, et al. Osteochondroma of the ventral scapula causing scapular static winging and secondary rib erosion. J Clin Diagn Res 2014;8:LD03-5.
- Tittal P, Pawar I, Kapoor SK. Pseudo-winging of scapula due to benign lesions of ventral surface of scapula–two unusual causes. J Clin Orthop Trauma 2015;6:30-5.
- 16. Flugstad NA, Sanger JR, Hackbarth DA. Pseudo-Winging of the Scapula Caused by Scapular Osteochondroma: Review of Literature and Case Report. Hand (N Y) 2015;10:353-6.
- 17. Alatassi R, Koaban S, Almugebel I, et al. Scapular osteochondroma with winging: A case report. Int J Surg Case Rep 2018;45:138-42.
- Pawar E, Modi N, Yadav AK, et al. A solitary ventral scapular osteochondroma causing pseudo-winging of scapula: A case report. J Orthop Case Rep 2021;11:82-5.
- Jindal V, Khandekar A, Gupta P, et al. Solitary osteochondroma of the scapula in a young male: A case report. J Orthop Case Rep 2022;12:34-7.
- 20. Faur C, Abu-Awwad A, Patrascu Jr JM, et al. Superomedial scapula angle osteochondroma with winging in a young female patient—Case report and literature review. J Clin Med 2023;12:5106.



# **Instruction for Authors**

### Aims and scope

The Journal of Southeast Asian Orthopaedics (JseaOrtho) is an official journal of The Royal College of Orthopaedic Surgeons of Thailand. JSEAORTHO will accept original papers on clinical and experimental research that are pertinent in Orthopaedics. Original articles, short communication, case reports, review articles, letters to the Editor and miscellany are welcome.

JseaOrtho publishes: original papers - reporting progress and results in all areas of orthopaedics and its related fields; review articles - reflecting the present state of knowledge in special areas of summarizing limited themes in which discussion has led to clearly defined conclusions; educational articles - giving information on the progress of a topic of particular interest; case reports - of uncommon or interesting presentations of the condition.

### Submission information

All submissions to JseaOrtho must comply with these Instructions for authors. Studies should be following human studies committees at the authors' institutions. All manuscripts will be subject to peer review. All manuscripts are to be submitted electronically through the online and upload to the review system website. Access the Journal online website is JseaOrtho.org.

### Submission Declaration and Author Warranties

Submission of a manuscript to JseaOrtho for peer review implies that: It is original work, has been written by the authors, and has not been published elsewhere, including electronically, in the same form, in any language. Likewise, a similar manuscript has not been submitted to other published by any other journal, by any of the authors.

### **IRB** Approval

Manuscripts describing research involving human subjects must have current Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval prior to any review process. Please note the approval in the cover letter and manuscript. IRB documentation should be available upon request.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

Authors are requested to disclose interests that are directly or indirectly related to the work submitted for publication. JseaOrtho uses the ICMJE disclosure for authors. Each author of manuscript must complete the form and save it, using his or her name. The corresponding author has to complete the form upon submission. A conflict of interest to publish form can be found at http://www.icmje.org/ disclosure-of-interest/

### **Authorship Principles**

JseaOrtho assume all authors agreed with the content and that all gave explicit consent to submit and that they obtained consent from the responsible authorities at the institute/organization where the work has been carried out, before the work is submitted. JseaOrtho generally limits the number of authors

to 6. If there are more than 6 authors, we ask the corresponding author to justify each author's participation using ICMJE criteria for authorship\*:

1. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND

- 2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND

4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

### \* Based on/adapted from:

ICMJE, Defining the Role of Authors and Contributors, Transparency in authors' contributions and responsibilities to promote integrity in scientific publication, McNutt at all, PNAS February 27, 2018

### Copyright

Copyright to all published articles will be held by JseaOrtho. Copyright forms are handled by the production department of the publisher once a manuscript is accepted and scheduled for publication.

### **Registration of Clinical Trials**

Clinical trial registration (prospective publication of clinical research study authors, title, purpose, hypothesis, methods including statistical methods, and confirmation of Institutional Review Board approval) mitigates against bias resulting from selective reporting of results. Clinical trials will not be accepted for publication in JseaOrtho without prospective registration of the trial. Trials may be accepted in any national or international registry.

### Submission

After registering as an author through JseaOrtho online submission and the review system website, you will be guided step by step through the uploading of your own files. You can track the progress of your manuscript through our website. Communications about a manuscript will be handles through our website. Please access the website for more detail about online submission, including a tutorial for authors, artwork guidelines, and a link to author support by e-mail.

### **Online Submission**

Submitting your manuscript: https://jseaortho.org

### **Open Access Policy**

Materials in JseaOrtho are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. Users are free to share and adapt these materials provided they give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license appropriate credit, and indicate if changes were made. However, without written permission from JseaOrtho, users may not use the materials for commercial purposes. (Following publication, JseaOrtho reserves the copyright of all published materials and such materials may not be reproduced in any form without written permission from JseaOrtho).

### Article Types

- Original articles: word limit 5000 words, 45 references, no more than 6 figures/tables
- Short communications: 2500 words, 20 references, no more than 2 figures/tables
- Reviews: word limit 10000 words, 100 references, no more than 10 figures

- Case Reports: 1500 words, 1-2 figures/tables, 20 references
- Letters: 500 words
- Editorial

### **Manuscript Preparation**

General Manuscripts should be typed double-spaced with continuous line numbering. Submit in this order; see details in the following sections: **separate title page**, **blinded manuscript** (Abstract, Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusions, References), **tables**, **figures**, **and conflict of interest forms**.

### Separate Title Page

### The title page must be written in English and should include:

- The name(s) of the author(s)
- A concise and informative title
- The affiliation(s) and address(es) of the author(s)
- The e-mail address, telephone and fax numbers of the corresponding author

### **Blinded Manuscript**

The manuscript must be written in English. Because all manuscripts are blinded to reviewers, the first page of the blinded manuscript must be a blinded title page that lists only the title. Likewise, in the text, do not include any identifying information, such as author's initials or the names of institutions where the study was done, or a phase such as "our study" that, when followed by a citation, reveals authorship of the present manuscript in the reference list. Manuscript Structure:

### Abstract

Please provide a structured abstract in English of 250 words which should be divided into the following sections:

- Purpose (stating the main purposes and research question)
- Methods
- Results
- Conclusions

### Keywords

Please provide 4 to 6 keywords which can be used for indexing purposes.

### **Text Formatting**

### Manuscripts should be submitted in Word:

- Use a normal, plain font for text e.g., 12-point Times New Roman, for special characters, please use Symbol and/or Arial Unicode.
- Use italics for emphasis.
- Use the automatic page numbering function to number the pages.
- Do not use field functions.
- Use tab stops or other commands for indents, not the space bar.
- Use the table function, not spreadsheets, to make tables.
- Use the equation editor or MathType for equations.

- Note: Journals not accept equations built using the Word 2007 or 2010 Equation Builder. All equations should be created in MathType (or the Microsoft Equation editor from Design Science).
- Manuscripts should be submitted in Microsoft Word (.doc/.docx) format.

### Headings

Please use no more than three levels of displayed headings.

### Abbreviations

Abbreviations should be defined at first mention and used consistently thereafter.

### Footnotes

Footnotes on the title page are not given reference symbols. Footnotes to the text are numbered consecutively; those to tables should be indicated by superscript lower-case letters (or asterisks for significance values and other statistical data).

### References

The list of references should only include works that are cited in the text and that have been published or accepted for publication. Personal communications and unpublished works should only be mentioned in the text.

Reference list entries should be alphabetized by the last names of the first author of each work. Use the Vancouver style. Please alphabetize according to the following rules:

- 1. For one author, by name of author, then chronologically.
- 2. For two authors, by name of author, then name of coauthor, then chronologically.
- 3. For more than two authors, by name of first author, then chronologically.
- 4. The list of authors exceeds 6, the first 6 authors followed by et al should be listed for those references.

Abbreviate journal titles according to the style used in the Index Medicus. See also http://www.medscape.com/home/search/indexMedicus/IndexMedicus-A.html

If available, please always include DOIs as full DOI links in your reference list (e.g. "https://doi.org/abc").

### **Example of References:**

### Journal articles

- 1. You CH, Lee KY, Chey RY, Menguy R. Electrogastrographic study of patient with unexplained nausea, bloating and vomiting. Gastroenterol 1980;79:311-4.
- 2. Gulgolgarn V, Ketsararat V, Niyomthai R, et al. Somatic growth and clinical manifestation in formula fed infants born to HIV-infected mothers during the first year of life. J Med Assoc Thai 1999;82:1094-9.

### **Conference proceeding**

 Bengtsson S, Solheim BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Peimme TE, Reinhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceeding fo the 7th World Congress on Medical informatics; 1992 Sep 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. p.1561-5.

### Abstract in scientific presentation

- Wettstein A, Dore G, Murphy C, Hing M, Edward P. HIV-related cholangiopathy in Australia. IX Annual Conference of the Australasian Society of HIV Medicine. Adelaide, November 1997 [abstract P45].
- 2. Clement J, De Bock R. Hematological complications of hantavirus nephropathy [abstract]. Kidney Int 1992;42:1285.

### Book

- 1. Getzen TE. Health economics: Fundamentals of funds. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1997.
- 2. Porter RJ, Meldrum BS. Antiepileptic drugs. In: Katzung BG, editor. Basic and clinical pharmacology. 6th ed. Norwalk: Appleton & Lange; 1995. p.361-80.

### **Electronic** article

- Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious disease. Emerg Infect Dis [serial online] 1995 Jan-Mar;1(1):[24 screens]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidoc/EID/eid.htm. Accessed December 25,1999.
- LaPorte RE, Marler E, Akazawa S, Sauer F. The death of biomedical journals. BMJ [serial online]. 1995;310:1387-90. Available from: http://www.bmj.com/bmj/archive/6991ed2.htm. Accessed September 26,1996.
- Health on the net foundation. Health on the net foundation code of conduct (HONcode) for medical and health web sites. Available from: http://www.hon.ch/Conduct.html. Accessed June 30, 1998.

### Tables

- All tables are to be numbered using Arabic numerals.
- Tables should always be cited in text in consecutive numerical order.
- For each table, please supply a table heading. The table title should explain clearly and concisely the components of the table.
- Identify any previously published material by giving the original source in the form of a reference at the end of the table heading.
- Footnotes to tables should be indicated by superscript lower-case letters (or asterisks for significance values and other statistical data) and included beneath the table body.

### Figures

### **Electronic Figure Submission:**

- Supply all figures electronically.
- Indicate what graphics program was used to create the artwork.
- For vector graphics, the preferred format is EPS; for halftones, please use TIFF format. MS Office files are also acceptable.
- Vector graphics containing fonts must have the fonts embedded in the files.
- Name your figure files with "Fig" and the figure number, e.g., Fig 1.

### Acknowledgements

Acknowledgements of people, grants, funds, etc. should be placed in a separate section on the title page. The names of funding organizations should be written in full.

# JSEA

# ORTHO